
BRADKEN LIMITED

Appendix 4E

Full Year Report Period Ended 30 June 2006

Results for Announcement to the Market

to

to

to

Dividends

Current period:

Record Date for determining entitlements to the dividend:

Prior corresponding period:

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Net Tangible Assets per Security

* Brief explanation of the figures reported above:

Percentage Change $'000

Revenues from ordinary activities 12.9% 549,110

Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax
attributable to members 53.3% 33,897

Net Profit (loss) for the period
attributable to members 53.3% 33,897

Amount per Security Percentage Franked

Final Dividend 11.5 cents 100%

Date the dividend is payable:

Final Dividend 9.2 cents

Interim Dividend 9.5 cents

13th October 2006

29th September 2006

100%

As at 30 June 2005 $0.67

The 2005 comparative numbers under AIFRS now include the trading of the Bradken Group for the full 12 mths, 
however a number of significant adjustments made due to the introduction of AIFRS, result in the percentage 
changes shown for profit above being not representative of the actual trading performance. Included in the 
commentary and review of operations are normalised Pro-forma 12 months ended 30 June 2005 numbers which 
can be compared to actual results for the 12 months to 30 June 2006.

100%

The Directors advise that the dividend reinvestment plan has been suspended.

As at 30 June 2006 $0.91

Interim Dividend 5.1 cents 100%

Bradken Limited and controlled entities
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report

30 June 2006

Directors' report

A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

A. General information

Principal activities

�

�

�

�

Directors

N F H Greiner
B W Hodges
P J Arnall
G R Laurie
V J O'Rourke

Information on directors

Nicholas F H Greiner, AC, B.Ec., MBA.  Independent Non-Executive Chairman.   Age 59.
Experience and expertise

Other current directorships

Former directorships in the last three years

Special responsibilities

Interest in shares

Brian W Hodges, B.Chem.Eng. (Hons).  Managing Director.   Age 53.
Experience and expertise

Other current directorships

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Group during the period.

Managing Director for two years.  Formerly General Manager of the Bradken business since 1997.  Extensive management and 
engineering experience in Australia for BHP, Australian National Industries and the Smorgon Steel Group.

None.

250,753 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

Member of Remuneration Committee.

Chairman for two years.  Extensive experience in corporate roles.  Formerly, Premier and Treasurer of New South Wales.  

Chairman of Bilfinger Berger Australia, Deputy Chairman of Stockland Trust and a Director of QBE Insurance Limited, McGuigan 
Simeon Wines Limited and various private groups.  Also Chairman of The Australian Subscription Television and Radio 
Association (ASTRA) and on the Committee for Economic Development of Australia’s (CEDA’s) Board of Governors. 

Board member of South Sydney Rugby League Club. 

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of Bradken Limited 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2006.

The report has been divided into five sections as follows:

The following persons were directors of Bradken Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report:

During the year the principal activities of the Group consisted of:

manufacture and maintenance of freight rollingstock products
supply of cast, machined and fabricated components
supply of equipment and consumables to the mineral processing and quarrying markets
supply and service of wear components for mining and earthmoving equipment

Other information

General information
Corporate governance
Review of operations
Remuneration report
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

A. General information (continued)

Former directorships in the last three years

Special responsibilities

Interest in shares and rights

Phillip J Arnall, B.Com.  Independent Non-Executive Director.   Age 61.
Experience and expertise

Other current directorships

Former directorships in the last three years

Special responsibilities

Interest in shares

Gregory R Laurie, B.Com.  Independent Non-Executive Director.   Age 64.
Experience and expertise

Other current directorships

Former directorships in the last three years

Special responsibilities

Interest in shares

Vincent J O'Rourke, AM, B.Ec.  Independent Non-Executive Director.   Age 70.
Experience and expertise

Other current directorships

Former directorships in the last three years

Special responsibilities

Interest in shares

152,839 rights over ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

Director for one year.  Extensive experience in manufacturing and distribution industries.  Formerly CFO of Rheem Australia 
Limited, from 1982 to 1988 and Finance Director of Crane Group Limited from 1989 until 2003.

Independent non-executive director of Nick Scali Limited and Repco Corporation Limited.

Executive director of Crane Group Limited.

Chairman of Audit Committee.

28,754 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

12,878 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

Director for two years.  Extensive experience in the rail transport industry, 10 years as Chief Executive of Queensland Rail. 

Chairman of Remuneration Committee and member of Audit Committee.

Chairman of Kip McGrath Education Centres Limited.

Chairman of Ludowici Limited and Chairman of Capral Aluminium Limited. 

Member of Audit Committee and member of Remuneration Committee.

2,648,167 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

Director for two years.  Extensive experience in mining and steel industries in management positions.  Held senior management 
positions with Smorgon Steel Group and Australian National Industries.

Managing Director.

None

690,135 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

Chairman of the Co-operative Research Centre for Rail Engineering and Technologies, the Great Australian Trunk Rail System 
and the Workplace Health and Safety Board of Queensland. 

Non-executive director of Linfox Pty Ltd.
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

A. General information (continued)

Company Secretary

Meetings of directors

A B A B A B A B
N F H Greiner 9 9 1 1 - - 3 3
B W Hodges 9 9 - - - - - -
P J Arnall 7 9 1 1 4 5 3 3
V J O'Rourke 9 9 1 1 5 5 3 3
G R Laurie 9 9 1 1 5 5 - -

A – Number of meetings attended
B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the period

B. Corporate governance

The board of directors

Board composition
The charter states:
�

�

�

�

�

Full meetings of 
directors

Meetings of non-
executive directors

Director

The Company Secretary is Mr B D Arnott, B.Com, CPA.  Mr Arnott joined the Group in October 2005 as Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) and is responsible for finance, treasury, taxation, supply, investor relations, investments, audit and insurance.  Prior to 
joining Bradken Mr Arnott held various senior finance positions within OneSteel, BHP and Tubemakers.

The number of meetings of the Company's board of directors and of each board committee held during the year ended 30 June 
2006, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

Remuneration 
Committee meetings

Audit Committee 
meetings

The relationship between the Board and senior management is critical to the Group's long-term success.  The directors are 
responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and the longer term and seek to balance 
sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Group as a whole.  Their focus is to enhance the interests of 
shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Group is properly managed.
Day to day management of the Group's affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy initiatives are formally 
delegated by the Board to the Managing Director and senior executives.
A description of the Company's main corporate governance practices is set out below.  All these practices, unless otherwise 
stated, were in place for the entire year.

The Board operates in accordance with broad principles set out in its charter which is available from the corporate governance 
information section of the Company website at www.bradken.com.au.  The charter details the Board's composition and 
responsibilities.

The Company and the Board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance.  
This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place throughout the financial year, which comply with the 
best practice recommendations released by the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Council in March 2003 unless 
otherwise stated.

the Company is to maintain a mix of directors from different backgrounds with complementary skills and experience both 
nationally and internationally with a majority of directors having knowledge of the Company or related industries and/or 
financial expertise
the Board is required to undertake an annual board performance review and consider the appropriate mix of skills required 
by the Board to maximise its effectiveness and its contribution to the Group.

the Board comprise both executive and non-executive directors with a majority of non-executive directors, and one executive 
director being the Managing Director / Chief Executive Officer
in recognition of the importance of independent views and the Board's role in supervising the activities of management, the 
Chairman must be an independent non-executive director, the majority of the Board must be independent of management 
and all directors are required to bring independent judgement to bear in their Board decision making
the Chairman is elected by the full Board and is required to meet regularly with the Managing Director
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

B. Corporate governance (continued)

Responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Board include:
�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Board members

�

�

Directors' independence

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Non-executive directors

Term of office

�

�

The Company's Constitution specifies that each non-executive director may have:

Details of the members of the Board, their experience, expertise, qualifications, term of office and independent status are set out 
in the directors' report under the heading "Information on directors".  As at the date of this report the Board of the Company 
comprises four non-executive directors, all of whom are considered independent under the principles set out below, and the 
Managing Director. 

The four non-executive directors met once during the year, in a scheduled session without the presence of the executive director, 
to discuss the operation of the Board and a range of other matters.  Relevant matters arising from these meetings were shared 
with the full Board.

is not a material supplier to or customer of the Company or another Group member, or an officer of or otherwise associated, 
directly or indirectly, with a material supplier or customer
has no material contractual relationship with the Company or another Group member other than as a director of the 
Company
has not served on the Board of the Company for a period which could materially interfere with the Director's ability to act in 
the best interests of the Company
is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially 
interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company.

The Board reviews the independence of each Director in light of interests disclosed to the Board from time to time.

a maximum retirement age of 72 years.  The tenure of the Managing Director is limited to that of his Executive Office.

appointment, performance assessment and, if necessary, removal of the Managing Director
ratifying the appointment and/or removal and contributing to the performance assessment of the members of the senior 
management team including the CFO / Company Secretary
ensuring there are effective management processes in place and approving major corporate initiatives
enhancing and protecting the reputation of the Group

a maximum period of 12 years service as a director, subject to re-elections every year by rotation such that 1/3 of the 
directors are subject to re-election each year

overseeing the operation of the Group's system for compliance and risk management.

The Board seeks to ensure that:
at any point in time, its membership represents an appropriate balance between directors with experience and knowledge of 
the Group and directors with an external or fresh perspective

holds less than 5% of the voting shares of the Company and is not an officer of, or otherwise associated, directly or 
indirectly, with a shareholder of more than 5% of the voting shares of the Company

An independent director is a director who is not a member of management (a non-executive director) and who:

has not within the last three years been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or another Group member

providing strategic guidance to the Company including contributing to the development of and approving the corporate 
strategy
reviewing and approving the business plans, the annual budget and financial plans including available resources and capital 
expenditure initiatives
overseeing and monitoring:

organisational performance and the achievement of the Group's strategic goals and objectives
compliance with the Company's Code of Conduct (see page 9)
progress of major capital expenditures and other significant corporate projects including any acquisitions or divestments

monitoring financial performance including approval of the annual and half-year financial reports and liaison with the 
Company's auditors

the size of the Board is conducive to effective discussion and efficient decision-making.

within the last three years has not been a principal or employee of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to 
the Company or another Group member
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

B. Corporate governance (continued)

Commitment

Conflict of interest

Independent professional advice

Performance assessment

Corporate reporting

�

�

Board committees

The commitments of non-executive directors are considered by the Board prior to the directors' appointment to the Board of the 
Company and are reviewed each year as part of the annual performance assessment.
Prior to appointment or being submitted for re-election, each non-executive director is required to specifically acknowledge that 
they have and will continue to have the time to discharge their responsibilities to the Company.

Directors and board committees have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to seek independent 
professional advice from a suitably qualified adviser at the Company's expense.  Prior written approval from the Chairman is 
required, but this will not be unreasonably withheld.

The Managing Director and the CFO have made the following certifications to the Board:
that the Company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the financial 
condition and operational results of the Company and Group and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards

The Board has established a number of committees to assist in the execution of its duties and to allow detailed consideration of 
complex issues.  Current committees of the Board are the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.  Each is 
comprised entirely of non-executive directors.  The committee structure and membership is reviewed on an annual basis.

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the 
Group. 

The full Board currently holds nine scheduled meetings each year, plus strategy meetings and any extraordinary meetings at 
such other times as may be necessary to address any specific matters that may arise.

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee. 
These Committees have written mandates and operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. 

Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director on a board matter, the director concerned does not 
receive the relevant board papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered. 

The Board undertakes an annual self assessment of its collective performance, the performance of the Chairman and of its 
committees.  Management are invited to contribute to this appraisal process.  The results and any action plans are documented.  
The assessment was undertaken in July 2005.
The Chairman undertakes an annual assessment of the performance of individual directors and meets privately with each 
director to discuss this assessment.

that the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which 
implements the policies adopted by the Board and that the Company's risk management and internal compliance and control 
is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

There were no director related entity transactions with the Group.

The Board has established a framework for the management of the Group including a system of internal control, a business risk 
management process and the establishment of appropriate ethical standards.

Each committee has its own written charter setting out its role and responsibilities, composition, structure, membership 
requirements and the manner in which the committee is to operate.  All of these charters are reviewed on an annual basis and 
are available on the Company website.  All matters determined by the committees are submitted to the full board as 
recommendations for board decisions.
Additional requirements for specific reporting by the committees to the Board are addressed in the charter of the individual 
committees.

The agenda for meetings is prepared in conjunction with the Chairman, Managing Director and Company Secretary. Standing 
items include the Managing Director’s report, financial reports, strategic matters, governance and compliance. Submissions are 
circulated in advance. Executives are regularly involved in Board discussions and directors have other opportunities, including 
visits to business operations, for contact with a wider group of employees.
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

B. Corporate governance (continued)

Remuneration Committee

V J O'Rourke (Chairman)
N F H Greiner
P J Arnall

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Audit Committee

G R Laurie (Chairman)
P J Arnall
V J O'Rourke

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

The Audit Committee consists of the following non-executive directors:

reviewing the personal development plans for senior executives to maintain a pool of capable senior management

The Remuneration Committee consists of the following non-executive directors:

reviewing and approving remuneration policies including proposed short and long term incentives, superannuation, 
recruitment, redundancy/termination and other major personnel practices that will attract, motivate and retain high quality 
employees

The Audit Committee has appropriate financial expertise and all members are financially literate and have an appropriate 
understanding of the businesses and markets in which the Group operates.
The Audit Committee operates in accordance with a charter which is available on the Company website.  The main 
responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to:

review and assess the integrity of the financial statements of the Group 
assess the suitability of the Group's accounting policies and processes
assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's internal control processes

liaise with the external auditors on the conduct of the external audit
review reports on the Group's financial statements and other matters, prepared by the external auditors
review any proposed provision of non-audit services by the external auditors
ensure the independence of the external auditors

overview the effectiveness of the internal audit function

undertaking any special projects delegated by the Board or deemed necessary by the Committee
Further information on directors' and executive remuneration is set out in the directors' report under the heading "Remuneration 
Report".

Details of these directors attendance at Audit Committee meetings are set out in the directors' report on page 4.

consider the competence and assess the performance of the external auditors

ensure there is an appropriate process for the identification and management of business risks

reviewing the Company’s development of human resource plans, training, workplace safety and environment systems 
designed to enhance corporate and individual performance
overseeing the planning and development of business continuity, crisis management and quality and safety management 
systems

recommending to the Board the entitlements under incentive plans for the Managing Director, including linkages to specific 
goals and objectives.  Approve entitlements for senior executives reporting to that position
recommending to the Board any service contracts for the Managing Director and approve service contracts for senior 
executives reporting to that position

act as an interface between the Board and the external auditors

reviewing the development of management succession planning to ensure ongoing professional management of the 
Company and the development of the individuals

The Remuneration Committee's terms of reference include:

recommending to the Board the total employment cost of the Managing Director and approving the total employment cost of 
senior executives reporting to that position.  The total cost being base pay, short and long term incentives (including shares 
and options), superannuation and other benefits

Details of these directors attendance at Remuneration Committee meetings are set out in the directors' report on page 4.
The Remuneration Committee operates in accordance with its charter which is available on the Company website.  The 
Remuneration Committee advises the Board on remuneration and incentive policies and practices generally, and makes specific 
recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment for the executive directors, other senior executives 
and non-executive directors.
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

B. Corporate governance (continued)

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

External auditors

Risk assessment and management

The environment, health and safety management system (EHSMS)

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

monitor its systems compliance with all relevant OH&S and environmental legislation

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services, is provided in the 
directors' report and in note 27 to the financial statements.  It is the policy of the external auditors to provide an annual 
declaration of their independence to the Audit Committee.

implement the Bradken 21 Step Safety plan at all sites

Not all aspects of risk management can be formalised and Bradken places considerable reliance on the skill, experience and 
judgement of its people to make risk based decisions within the policy framework, and to communicate openly on all risk related 
matters.

report to the Board on matters relevant to the Committee's role and responsibilities.

Bradken is committed to managing risk to protect our people, the environment, company assets, the community and our 
reputation.  This risk-based system helps the Group operate effectively and efficiently, achieve business objectives, ensure 
reliable reporting and comply with applicable laws and regulations.

The external auditor is required to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about the 
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report.

The Group recognises the importance of environmental and occupational health and safety (OH&S) issues and is committed to 
the highest levels of performance.  To help meet this objective the EHSMS was established to facilitate the systematic 
identification of environmental and OH&S issues and to ensure they are managed in a structured way.  This system has been 
operating for a number of years and allows the Company to: 

The Company policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence.  The performance of the 
external auditor is reviewed annually.  PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor in 2005.  It is 
PricewaterhouseCoopers policy to rotate audit engagement partners on listed companies at least every five years.

ensure a process is in place to monitor the Group's compliance with relevant laws and regulations

receives regular reports from management and the external auditors
In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee:

The Audit Committee has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires from any employee 
or external party.

review and monitor related party transactions and assess their propriety

implement a corporate environmental management system that is independently certified to international standards ISO 
14001.  

The Board implements this policy by overseeing the establishment and implementation of the risk management system, 
reviewing the effectiveness of the company's implementation of that system and ensuring appropriate communication with 
shareholders.  Further information on the Bradken Risk Policy can be found under the corporate governance information section 
of the Company website at www.bradken.com.au.

assesses the suitability of the Company's financial accounting policies, practices and procedures and the compliance with 
regulatory requirements

provides the external auditors with a clear line of direct communication at any time to either the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee or the Chairman of the Board.

reviews the processes the CEO and the CFO have in place to support their certifications to the Board
reviews any significant disagreements between the auditors and management, irrespective of whether they have been 
resolved
meets separately with the external auditors at least twice a year without the presence of management

oversee the Group's transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) - see note 39 
to the financial statements

The Audit Committee meets with the external auditors on a regular basis. It reviews its performance and effectiveness 
periodically and reviews its charter and makes recommendations to the Board on its charter annually.

encourage the adoption of similar standards by the Group's principal suppliers and contractors.

continually assess and improve the impact of its operations on the environment
encourage employees to actively participate in the management of environmental and OH&S issues
work with trade associations representing the Group's businesses to raise standards
use energy and other resources as efficiently as practicable, and 
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

B. Corporate governance (continued)

Code of conduct

�

�

Continuous disclosure and shareholder communication

In summary, the Continuous Disclosure Policy operates as follows:
�

�

�

�

�

�

�

all announcements made to the market, and related information including information provided to analysts or the media 
during briefings, are placed on the Company’s website after they are released to the ASX

determining and authorising what information can or should be disclosed to the market

encouraging employees to report any behaviour that may be dishonest, fraudulent, corrupt, illegal, in breach of 
Commonwealth or State Legislation, unethical, improper, unsafe or any other behaviour that may cause financial or non-
financial loss to the Group or would be otherwise detrimental to the interests of the Group

The Company also has a Securities Trading Policy (available on the Company's website) which details the insider trading 
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001.  In summary, trading of the Company's shares is restricted to 30 days after the release 
of the Company's half-year and annual results to the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) and the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company.

the Chairman, the Managing Director and the Company Secretary comprise the Disclosure Committee.  The responsibilities 
of the Disclosure Committee include:

The Board provides shareholders with information using a comprehensive Continuous Disclosure Policy which includes 
identifying matters, that a reasonable person would expect, that may have a material effect on the price of the Company’s 
securities, notifying each matter to the ASX, posting them on the Company’s website, and issuing media releases.  Full details of 
the policy are available on the Company’s website.

ensuring the Company complies with its disclosure obligations 

The Group has advised each director, manager and employee that they must comply with the Company's Whistleblower Policy.  
The Policy may be viewed on the Company’s website, and it covers the following:

All directors, managers and employees are expected to act with the utmost integrity, objectivity and in compliance with the letter 
and spirit of the law and Company policies, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and performance of the Group.  Every 
employee has a nominated supervisor to whom they may refer any issues arising from their employment.

Recently acquired operations are currently implementing environmental management systems.  The Group continues to 
implement projects that improve the Company's environmental performance and to address any community concerns in the 
vicinity of manufacturing sites.  Information on compliance with significant environmental regulations is set out in section E of this 
report on page 21.

liaising with the Board where necessary

All shareholders receive a copy of the Company's annual (full or concise) report.  In addition the Company seeks to provide 
opportunities for shareholders to participate through electronic means.  All Company announcements, media briefings, details of 
Company meetings and press releases are available on the Company's website.  All of the above information is made available 
on the Company’s website within one day of public release, and is emailed to all shareholders who lodge their email contact 
details with the Company.  Information on lodging email addresses with the Company is available on the Company’s website.

the Company Secretary is responsible for all communications with the ASX.  Such continuous disclosure matters are 
advised to the ASX on the day they are discovered, and all senior executives must follow a ‘Continuous Disclosure 
Discovery’ process, which involves monitoring all areas of the Group's internal and external environment

ensuring that the Company complies with its obligations to protect the reporter of any such behaviour.

the full text of notices of meetings and associated explanatory material are placed on the Company’s website.
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

C. Review of operations

(i)

* FY05 numbers are 12 months pro-forma as if the group had traded for the full twelve months, adjusted for AIFRS

** EPS is based on the number of shares at the end of the period

*** Net operating and investing cash flows before borrowing costs & income tax

**** Net operating and investing cash flow

(ii)
� Sales revenue of $547.8m, up 12.9% on FY05
� EBITDA of $77.4m, up 29.2%
� NPAT of $33.9m, up 44.3%
� Net operating and investing cashflow of $44.4m
� Gearing (gross debt/EBITDA) reduced to1.49 times
� Final dividend of 11.5 cents per share fully franked, payable on 13 October 2006

(iii)

� Mining - sales revenue of $212.1m, up $37.4m or 21% on FY05 (Pro-forma)

� Mineral Processing - sales revenue of $105.9m, up $46.5m or 78% on FY05 (Pro-forma)

Debt / EBITDA (ratio)
Interest cover (times)

Cashflow ***
Cash flow****
ROFE (EBITA)
ROE

Sales
EBITDA
NPAT
Earnings per share** (cents)

Business Summary

Ongoing strong expansion in the mining sector resulted in strong sales growth for crawler shoes and wear plate and block 
product.  Sales of ground engaging tools, while up 20% year on year, were flat in the second half as mine production levels fell.  
Higher levels of maintenance and refurbishment revenue was also reported with revenue from the new Mackay facility included in 
the FY06 results.
Price increases and cost management initiatives resulted in further gross margin expansion.

19.5%
21.6%
2.41

The Henderson foundry business was purchased in March 2005 and provided approximately $29m of additional sales in the 
FY06.  On a like for like business basis (excluding Henderson) sales of $67.4m were $17.6m or 35% higher than FY05.
As for the mining business the demand for mining consumables such as mill liners and crusher liners was strong during the 
period, and pricing initiatives provided margin improvement compared to FY05.

3.9

25.7%

44.3
39.7

352.5

23.5
22.9
13.9
NA

Variance
%

12.9
29.2

FY05*
$m

485.1
59.9

1.49
5.2

33.9
32.0
62.9
44.4

Financial Overview

Financial Highlights

Sales revenue for the twelve months to June 2006 of $547.8m was $62.7m or 12.9% higher than for the twelve months to June 
2005.  Mineral Processing revenue increased by 78%, Mining showed strong revenue growth of 21%, Industrial sales were up by 
8% while Rail’s revenue was down by 13%.  Trading for the Henderson acquisition (March 2005) and the new Mackay facility 
(January 2005) accounted for $32m of the revenue growth.
EBITDA of $77.4m was achieved, $17.5m or 29% higher than the corresponding period.  Growth in EBITDA was achieved via 
higher volumes and improved margins.  The EBITDA to sales margin of 14.1% was well up on the corresponding period of 
12.3%.
Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary equity holders (NPAT) of $33.9m was $10.4m or 44% ahead of the corresponding 
period, resulting in earnings per share of 32 cents (based on number of shares at 30 June 2006).
The Directors have declared a final, fully franked, dividend of 11.5 cents, compared to 9.2 cents in the corresponding period last 
year, payable on the 13th October 2006 with a record date of 29 September 2006.  This brings the dividend for the full year to 21 
cents per share, a payout ratio of 65%.  The directors have suspended the dividend reinvestment plan.
Strong cash generation driven by profit levels and a reduction in working capital allowed Bradken to increase capital expenditure 
in the year to $20.7m and also to reduce net debt by $28.7m to $114.3m.

FY06
$m

547.8
77.4

27.8%
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C. Review of operations (continued)

(iii)

� Rail - sales revenue of $166.1m, down $25.6m or 13% on FY05 (Pro-forma)

� Industrial - sales revenue of $63.7m, up $4.4m or 8% on FY05 (Pro-forma)

(iv)

Dividends
Dividends paid to members during the financial year were as follows:

2006 2005

$'000 $'000

9,457       -           

9,936       5,220       

19,393     5,220       

Significant changes in the state of affairs

(a)
2006
$'000

(b)
�

18            

�
9,666       

�
247          

�
74            

�
1,500       

11,505     
Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

Likely developments and expected results of operations

Sales were up 8% with solid growth in core products, expansion of gross margins also contributed strongly to the sales growth 
and improved earnings.

Outlook

Business Summary (continued)

With the strength of underlying markets and current order book the forward outlook remains strong.

Reduced sales of bogies, and lower demand from the general freight market, particularly Pacific National, offset higher wagon 
sales to Rio Tinto when comparing FY06 to FY05.  Due to the sales mix, cost reductions and pricing initiatives a substantial 
increase in gross margin offset the lost sales volume.
Demand for new rolling stock, particularly for iron ore, continues to be strong following the continued expansion of mining activity 
in Australia.

Bradken, through its leading market position as a supplier to the Australian resources and freight rail industries, is well placed to 
continue to benefit from the growth in these mining related markets, while the markets for our capital products, such as rail 
wagons, remain at expanded levels as mine capacities continue to increase.
The Company's key activity is to continue to invest in additional capacity ahead of forecast demand in the coming years and to 
look for bolt on or larger acquisitions which grow the current product offering.

increase in contributed equity of $11,375,000 (from $71,962,000 to $83,337,0000) as a result of:

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year were the:

issue of 20,283 fully paid ordinary shares between $2.92 and $4.43 under the Non Executive Directors Share 
Acquisition Plan

issue of 6,448 fully paid ordinary shares @ $2.82 under the Bradken Employee Share Plan (New Zealand Gift 
Offer) 

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2005 of 9.2 cents (2004: Nil cents) per fully paid 
share paid on 12 October 2005 (2004: not applicable)

acquisition of G W Brown and Co Pty Ltd on 28 March 2006

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 9.5 cents (2005: 5.1 cents) per fully 
paid share paid 30 March 2006 (2005: 23 March 2005)

In addition to the above dividends, since the end of the financial year the directors have recommended the payment of a fully 
franked final dividend of $12,169,000 (11.5 cents per fully paid ordinary share) to be paid on 13 October 2006 out of retained 
profits at 30 June 2006.

issue of 2,646,058 fully paid ordinary shares between $3.17 and $4.58 under the dividend reinvestment plan

issue of 59,993 fully paid ordinary shares between $4.05 and $4.75 on exercise of rights under the 
Performance Rights Plan

issue of 318,167 fully paid ordinary shares @ $4.71 as part of the consideration for the purchase of G W Brown 
& Co Pty Ltd

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event 
of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the 
Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.

Further disclosure on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations have not been 
included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.
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D. Remuneration report

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
(a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
(b) Details of remuneration
(c) Service agreements
(d) Share-based compensation
(e) Other information

(a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited)

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Non executive directors

(i) Directors' fees

The information provided under headings (a) to (d) includes the remuneration disclosures that are required under the Accounting 
Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures .  These disclosures have been transferred from the financial report and have 
been audited.  The disclosures in section (e) below are additional disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001  and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001  which have not been audited.

The objective of the Group's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate for 
the results delivered.  The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of value 
for shareholders, and conforms with market best practice for delivery of reward.  The Board ensures that executive reward 
satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices:

Performance linked remuneration includes both short-term and long-term incentives and is designed to reward executive 
directors and senior executives for meeting or exceeding their financial and personal objectives.  The short-term incentive (STI) is 
an “at risk” bonus provided in the form of cash, while the long-term incentive (LTI) is provided as rights over ordinary shares of 
Bradken Limited under the rules of the Performance Rights Plan.

attracts and retains high calibre executives.

focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and delivering 
constant return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value

Alignment to shareholders' interests:

competitiveness and reasonableness
acceptability to shareholders
performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation
transparency
capital management.

In consultation with external remuneration consultants, the Group has structured an executive remuneration framework that is 
market competitive and complementary to the reward strategy of the Group.

has economic profit as a core component of plan design 

Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the directors.  
Non-executive directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board.  The Board also uses the advice of independent 
remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive directors' fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market.

Directors’ base fees are presently $89,675 per annum.  The Chairman receives up to twice the base fee, currently $168,800 per 
annum.  Non-executive directors do not receive performance related remuneration.  Directors’ fees cover all main board activities 
and membership of any board committee. 

The current base remuneration was last reviewed with effect from 1 October 2005.  Total aggregate remuneration for all non-
executive directors, last voted upon by shareholders in April 2004, is not to exceed $600,000 per annum and actual amounts 
payable to individual directors are determined after considering advice from external advisors and with reference to fees paid to 
other non-executive directors of comparable companies.

Alignment to program participants' interests:
rewards capability and experience
reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth
provides a clear structure for earning rewards
provides recognition for contribution.

Page 12 Bradken Limited



Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

D. Remuneration report (continued)

(a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited) (continued)

(ii) Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

Executive pay

�

�

�

(i) Base pay and benefits

(ii) Short-term incentives

(iii) Long-term incentives - Performance Rights Plan

(b) Details of remuneration (audited)

�

�

�

�

�

�

E P Sheridan - General Manager Mining
B J Ward - General Manager Mineral Processing

The cash bonuses are dependent on the satisfaction of performance conditions as set out in the section headed Short-term 
incentives  above, and the Performance Rights (long term incentives) are not granted unless the conditions set out in Note 38 are 
satisfied.  All other elements of remuneration are not directly related to performance.

A J Poole - CFO and Company Secretary until 26 October 2005

At the end of the financial year an assessment is made of the actual performance of the Group, the relevant business unit and 
the individual targets set at the beginning of the financial year.  A percentage of bonus is awarded depending on performance.  
No bonus is awarded where performance falls below the minimum growth target set for the financial year.

short-term performance incentives

Non-executive directors may elect to have a percentage of their annual fixed directors’ fees provided in shares under the Non-
Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan (NED plan).  Participation in the plan is voluntary.

base pay and benefits including superannuation
The executive pay and reward framework has three components:

Each year the Board sets the job goals for the Managing Director.  The senior executives job goals are set and managed by the 
Managing Director.  The job goals are focused on the growth of the business and generally include measures relating to the 
Group, the relevant business unit, and the individual, and include financial, people, customer and strategy and risk measures.  
The measures are chosen to directly align the individual's reward to the goals of the Group and to its strategy and performance.
The financial performance objectives are “Net profit after tax” and "EBITDA" compared to previous year results.  The non-
financial objectives vary with position and responsibility and include measures such as achieving strategic outcomes, safety and 
environmental performance, customer satisfaction and staff development. 

The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration.

Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures) of Bradken Limited and the Bradken Limited Group are set out in the following tables:
The key management personnel of Bradken Limited and the Group are the directors of Bradken Limited (see page 2 above), the 
Chief Financial Officer and the General Managers of the Bradken business units who report directly to the Managing Director.  
This includes the 5 Group executives who received the highest remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2006.  The executives 
are:

The Group's long-term incentive, the Performance Rights Plan, focuses on rewarding for long term growth and the retention of 
key people.  Information on the Performance Rights Plan is set out on page 16.

A J Allen - General Manager Industrial
B D Arnott - CFO and Company Secretary from 26 October 2005
S D Burraston - General Manager Rail

Structured as a total employment cost package which may be delivered as a combination of cash and prescribed non-financial 
benefits at the executives' discretion and includes contributions to employee superannuation funds.
Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards.  External remuneration 
consultants provide analysis and advice to ensure base pay is set to reflect the market for a comparable role.  Base pay for 
senior executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive's pay is competitive with the market.  An executive's pay is also 
reviewed on promotion.

long-term incentives through participation in the Performance Rights Plan.

The Remuneration Committee recommends the bonus incentive to be paid to the Managing Director for approval by the Board.  
For other senior executives the Managing Director recommends the bonus incentive to be paid, and seeks approval from the 
Remuneration Committee. 
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D. Remuneration report (continued)

(b) Details of remuneration (audited) (continued)

Key management personnel of Bradken Limited and of the Group

Short-term employee benefits Post-employment 
benefits

Share-
based 

payment

Cash
salary and 

fees
$

Cash 
bonus

$

Non-
monetary 
benefits

$

Super-
annuation

$

Retirement 
benefits

$

Shares /
Rights

$
Total

$
Non-executive directors
N F H Greiner - Chairman 124,950      -             -             -             -             41,650        166,600      

P J Arnall 88,506        -             -             -             -             -             88,506        

G R Laurie 56,840        -             -             5,116          -             26,550        88,506        

V J O'Rourke 66,380        -             -             -             -             22,126        88,506        

336,676      -             -             5,116          -             90,326        432,118      

Executive directors
B W Hodges 345,445      350,000      15,777        185,079      -             115,038      1,011,339   

Other key management
A J Allen 139,256      100,000      34,968        43,603        -             29,075        346,902      

137,720      105,000      -             66,895        -             24,144        333,759      

S D Burraston 142,816      80,000        61,806        26,274        -             30,671        341,567      

82,588        -             -             17,512        110,324      -             210,424      

E P Sheridan 159,834      100,000      17,666        47,237        -             29,881        354,618      

B J Ward 148,315      100,000      15,271        28,427        -             24,541        316,554      

1,492,650   835,000      145,488      420,143      110,324      343,676      3,347,281   

Short-term employee benefits Post-employment 
benefits

Share-
based 

payment

Cash
salary and 

fees
$

Cash 
bonus

$

Non-
monetary 
benefits

$

Super-
annuation

$

Retirement 
benefits

$

Shares /
Rights

$
Total

$
Non-executive directors
N F H Greiner - Chairman 119,456      -             -             -             -             20,000        139,456      

P J Arnall 71,522        -             -             -             -             -             71,522        

G R Laurie 27,133        -             -             2,442          -             -             29,575        

V J O'Rourke 53,125        -             -             -             -             10,625        63,750        

271,236      -             -             2,442          -             30,625        304,303      

Executive directors
B W Hodges 366,574      110,000      25,162        70,854        -             47,972        620,562      

Other key management
A J Allen 150,214      45,309        34,968        26,683        -             11,515        268,689      

S D Burraston 139,107      23,119        52,437        26,223        -             11,791        252,677      

A C Horne 59,348        -             -             11,694        117,909      -             188,951      

A J Poole 210,817      36,697        -             40,319        -             12,494        300,327      

E P Sheridan 142,912      45,729        23,554        40,466        -             11,510        264,171      

B J Ward (1 Nov 2004 to 30 Jun 2005) 92,620        38,532        12,561        14,836        -             9,065          167,614      

1,432,828   299,386      148,682      233,517      117,909      134,972      2,367,294   

Name

2006

Totals

* A J Poole resigned during the year as CFO and Company Secretary and left the Company on 11 November 2005.  B D Arnott 
replaced Mr Poole and commenced employment with the Company on 26 October 2005.

B D Arnott *
(from 26/10/2005 - 30/6/2006)

A J Poole *
(from 1/7/2005 - 11/11/2005)

Name

Sub-total 
non-executive directors

Sub-total 
non-executive directors

2005

Totals

Page 14 Bradken Limited



Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

D. Remuneration report (continued)

(c) Service agreements (audited)

B W Hodges, Managing Director
�

�

B D Arnott, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
�

�

A J Allen, General Manager Industrial
�

�

E P Sheridan, General Manager Mining
�

�

B J Ward, General Manager Mineral Processing
�

�

S D Burraston, General Manager Rail
�

�

A J Poole,  Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary (from 1/7/2005 - 11/11/2005)
�

(d) Share-based compensation (audited)

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

The contract can be terminated on three months notice by either party, or immediately in the case of gross misconduct.  

Non-executive directors may elect to have a proportion of their quarterly directors’ fees provided as shares under the NED Plan.  
Participation in the plan is voluntary.

Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd terminated by resignation on 11 November 2005.

Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 3rd July 2006 with no prescribed duration.

The contract can be terminated either by either party providing six months written notice, or immediately in the case of gross 
misconduct.  If Bradken Resources Pty Ltd terminates employment, other than for misconduct, then a severance payment 
will be made in accordance with Bradken's redundancy policy in place immediately before termination.

Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 7 July 2006 with no prescribed duration.

The contract can be terminated by either party providing three months written notice, or immediately in the case of gross 
misconduct.  If a takeover of Bradken Limited occurs within the first 12 months of the contract and the CFO position is 
redundant, 12 months salary will be paid in lieu of service.

Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 7th January 2000 with no prescribed duration.
The contract can be terminated on three months notice by either party, or immediately in the case of gross misconduct.

Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 22nd September 2004 with no prescribed duration.

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director and the other key management personnel are 
formalised in service agreements.  Each of these agreements provide for the provision of performance-related cash bonuses, 
other benefits including, but not limited to, motor vehicles and participation, when eligible, in the Bradken Performance Rights 
Plan.  Other major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below.

Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 2nd July 2004 with no prescribed duration.

Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 6th June 1995 with no prescribed duration.
The contract can be terminated on three months notice by either party, or immediately in the case of gross misconduct.

Non-executive directors are not able to sell or otherwise dispose of the shares until the earliest of 10 years after acquisition or 
when the non-executive director ceases to be a director of the Company (except in very limited circumstances).  During this 
period the shares are subject to a holding lock.
During the financial period shares were issued as new shares and the number of shares allocated is determined on the basis of 
the weighted average price of shares on the ASX on the five trading days up to and including the allocation date to satisfy the 
allocation.  In the future it is intended to purchase these shares on market.

The contract can be terminated on three months notice by either party, or immediately in the case of gross misconduct.
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D. Remuneration report (continued)

(d) Share-based compensation (audited) (continued)

2006 2005 2006 2005

Directors of Bradken Limited
N F H Greiner 6,851        -           $2.92 -           
N F H Greiner 4,516        -           $4.43 -           
G R Laurie 2,878        -           $4.43 -           
V J O'Rourke 3,639        -           $2.92 -           
V J O'Rourke 2,399        -           $4.43 -           

Rights

The terms and conditions of each grant of Rights affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting periods are as 
follows:

In assessing whether the performance hurdles have been met, the Remuneration Committee receives independent data from an 
investment bank which provides both the Company's TSR from previous financial years and that of the ASX Small Cap 
companies.  The Company's performance against the hurdle is then determined with each Company in the ASX Small Cap 
companies and Bradken being ranked in order of TSR in results from previous financial years.  The Company's percentile 
ranking is determined by aggregating the weighting within the ASX Small Cap companies (based on market capitalisation) of 
each company ranked below Bradken.  The method of assessment was chosen as it provides the Committee with an objective 
means of measuring the Company's performance against its peer group.
Dividends, changes in share price, and return of capital are included in the TSR calculation which is the only performance criteria 
assessed for the LTI scheme.

23 February 2006

24 August 2005

If any additional persons become entitled to participate in the PRP and their participation requires approval under Chapter 10 of 
the Listing Rules, they will not participate in the PRP until shareholder approval is received pursuant to Listing Rule 10.14. 
Mr Brian Hodges, being the only Executive Director of the Company, is the only Director entitled to participate in the PRP.  If any 
other Director is to participate in the PRP, the Company will seek shareholder approval required by the Listing Rules.
The performance conditions are based on the relative total shareholder return (“TSR”) of the Company measured against other 
companies in the ASX Small Cap Industrials index for the period since grant of the Performance Rights. TSR measures the total 
return on investment of a share taking into account capital appreciation, capital return and dividend income.

50
Pro rata between 50% and 100%

(2% increase for each higher ranking)

100

The Performance Rights Plan (PRP) is the Company’s long-term incentive (LTI) scheme for selected key executives.  The 
Company’s shareholders have approved the terms, the implementation and the operation of the PRP.  The Managing Director 
recommends the list of executives who are entitled to participate in this scheme and seeks approval of the list from the Board.  
Under the PRP, eligible executives may be granted Performance Rights (each being a right to acquire a share, subject to the 
satisfaction of exercise conditions) on terms and conditions determined by the Board.  If the exercise conditions are satisfied, the 
Performance Rights may be exercised and the shares issued and delivered to the executive.  The Board may impose restrictions 
on the disposal of the shares and implement procedures to enforce the restrictions.
The rules of the PRP provide that the Board may determine a price that is payable to exercise a Performance Right, or that no 
amount is payable by the executive upon exercise of the Right. 

23 February 2006

0

The TSR performance conditions in relation to the grants issued in 2005 and 2006 financial years are:

Weighted average 
price of shares 

issued

Dates of share issuesName

The appropriate number of shares are issued on a semi-annual basis.  In general, the allocation date is the day following the end 
of the relevant fee period.  If for legal or other reasons shares are not issued, each non-executive director is provided with an 
equivalent cash amount.

24 August 2005

Number of shares
issued

during the year

Percentage of Rights available
in given year to vest

23 February 2006

Target

The Company’s TSR does not meet performance of the median Company in ASX Small Cap

The Company’s TSR equals or exceeds performance of the median Company in ASX Small Cap

The Company’s TSR ranked in third quartile of companies in ASX Small Cap

The Company’s TSR ranked in fourth quartile of companies in ASX Small Cap

Page 16 Bradken Limited



Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

D. Remuneration report (continued)

(d) Share-based compensation (audited) (continued)

Exercise 
price

Fair value 
per Right

$0.00 $1.57

$0.00 $1.41

$0.00 $2.35

Number of Rights granted and vested during the year

2006 2005 2006 2005

Directors of Bradken Limited
B W Hodges 85,616      91,667      65,206      24,444      
Other key management personnel of Bradken Limited and of the Group
A J Allen 22,417      24,499      17,272      6,533        
B D Arnott 30,822      -           10,274      -           
S D Burraston 24,102      25,087      18,069      6,690        
A J Poole -           26,583      -           7,088        
E P Sheridan 23,452      24,490      17,614      6,530        
B J Ward 19,757      19,288      14,302      5,143        

Expiry 
Date

Exercise 
price

Price of 
shares on 
grant date

Estimated 
volatility

Risk free 
interest 

rate

Dividend 
yield

30/06/2007 $0.00 $2.66 90% 5.44% 0.00%
30/06/2007 $0.00 $2.80 90% 5.17% 0.00%
30/06/2008 $0.00 $4.15 90% 5.35% 0.00%

Details of Rights over ordinary shares in the Company provided as remuneration to each director of Bradken Limited and each of 
the key management personnel are set out below.  When exercisable, each Right is convertible into one ordinary share of 
Bradken Limited.  Further information on the Rights is set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

Grant Date

18 August 2004

30 June 2005

18 November 2005

30 June 2007

30 June 2005

The following factors and assumptions have been used in determining the fair value of Rights for the issues granted:

18 November 2005

Rights granted under the PRP carry no dividend or voting rights.

Date exercisable

One third by 30/06/2005, 
One third by 30/06/2006, 
One third by 30/06/2007
One third by 30/06/2005, 
One third by 30/06/2006, 
One third by 30/06/2007

18 August 2004

The assessed fair value at grant date of Rights granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the three financial periods in 
which the Rights may vest, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above.  Fair values at grant date are 
determined using a Black Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the Right, the 
vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the Right, the share price at grant date and 
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the 
Right.  

Grant Date

Number of Rights
vested

during the year

Number of Rights
granted

during the year

30 June 2007

Expiry Date

Name

30 June 2008 One third by 30/06/2006, 
One third by 30/06/2007, 
One third by 30/06/2008
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D. Remuneration report (continued)

(d) Share-based compensation (audited) (continued)

Shares provided on exercise of Performance Rights

2006 2005

Directors of Bradken Limited
B W Hodges 24,444      -           
Other key management personnel of Bradken Limited and of the Group
A J Allen 6,533        -           
A J Poole 7,088        -           
E P Sheridan 6,530        -           
B J Ward 5,143        -           

Future changes to the Performance Rights Plan

Number of ordinary 
shares issued on 
exercise of Rights 

during the year

Date of 
exercise 
of Rights

1 December 2005
15 November 2005

15 November 2005

A decision has been made to institute a new performance rights plan with a three year vesting period and to transition 
participants to the new scheme.

Details of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of the exercise of Performance Rights to the Managing Director of 
Bradken Limited and each of the key management personnel of the Group are set out below.

No amounts were payable on the exercise of Rights during the period.

Name

15 November 2005

1 December 2005

Page 18 Bradken Limited



Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

D. Remuneration report (continued)

(e) Additional information - unaudited

Cash 
bonus

Paid / 
Forfeited

%

Financial 
year 

granted

Vested in 
prior years

%

Vested in 
current 

year
%

Forfeited 
(A)
%

Financial 
years in 
which 

Rights may 
vest

Minimum 
total value 
of grant yet 
to vest (B)

$
100 / Nil 2006 -           33             -           30/06/2007 -           

30/06/2008

2005 26             41             -           30/06/2007 -           
100 / Nil 2006 -           33             -           30/06/2007 -           

30/06/2008

88 / 12 2006 -           33             -           30/06/2007 -           
30/06/2008

2005 26             41             -           30/06/2007 -           
100 / Nil 2006 -           33             -           30/06/2007 -           

30/06/2008

2005 26             41             -           30/06/2007 -           
-           2005 26             -           30/06/2007 -           

100 / Nil 2006 -           33             -           30/06/2007 -           
30/06/2008

2005 26             41             -           30/06/2007 -           
100 / Nil 2006 -           33             -           30/06/2007 -           

30/06/2008

2005 26             41             -           30/06/2007 -           

A=

B=

C=

Rights

-             

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration: relationship between remuneration 
and Company performance

For each cash bonus and grant of Rights included in the tables on page 14, pages 16 to 18 and page 20, the percentage of the 
available bonus or Right that was paid, or that vested, in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the 
person did not meet the performance criteria is set out below.  The Rights vest over three years, provided the vesting conditions 
are met (see page 16 above).  No part of cash bonuses forfeited are payable in future years.  

The overall level of executive reward takes into account the performance of the Group over a number of years, with greater 
emphasis given to the current and prior year.

Details of cash remuneration: cash bonuses and Rights

Name

158,891     

296,800     

S D Burraston

B W Hodges

83,554       

43,482       

Maximum 
total value 
of grant yet 
to vest (C)

$
77,714       

106,850     

A J Allen

B D Arnott

The maximum value of rights yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of shares of Bradken Limited 
on the Australian Stock Exchange at the date the right is exercised. The maximum values presented above are based on the 
closing share price at 30 June 2006 of $5.20.

B J Ward

The % forfeited in the year is nil as the Rights that failed to vest in this period may vest in future periods if performance 
criteria are met.
The minimum value of Rights yet to vest is nil as the performance criteria may not be met and consequently the Right may 
not vest.

33,431       

42,448       

81,302       

68,489       

A J Poole

E P Sheridan

42,463       
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

D. Remuneration report (continued)

(e) Additional information - unaudited (continued)

Details of cash remuneration: cash bonuses and Rights (continued)

Share based compensation: Rights
Further details relating to rights are set out below.

A
Remuneration 
consisting 

of 
Rights

B
Value at 

grant 
date

$

C
Value at 
exercise 

date
$

D
Value at 

lapse 
date

$

E
Total of 

columns B-
D
$

8.4% 52,680      8,958        -           61,638      
7.2% 72,432      -           -           72,432      
9.0% 56,640      -           -           56,640      

11.4% 201,198    38,377      -           239,575    
-           -           9,994        27,488      37,482      

8.4% 55,112      9,207        -           64,319      
7.8% 46,429      7,252        -           53,681      

A=
B=

C=
D=

Shares under Performance Rights
Unissued shares of Bradken Limited under Performance Right at the date of this report are as follows:

Expiry date Exercise price
Number of shares 

under right

Shares issued on exercise of Rights

Issue price of shares Number of shares 
issued

Nil

0.00
0.00

30 June 2007
Nil

0.00
35,549

30 June 2008

The following ordinary shares of Bradken Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2006 on exercise of Rights granted 
under the Performance Rights Plan  No further shares have been issued since that date.

18 November 2005

Further details are included in the Remuneration Report above.

30 June 2005

119,70530 June 2005
18 November 2005 444,068

18 August 2004

0

24,444

18 August 2004 30 June 2007

Date Rights granted

A J Poole
E P Sheridan

Date Rights granted

B J Ward

All Rights expire on the earlier of their expiry date, their exercise, their failure to meet exercise conditions or termination of the 
employee’s employment.  In addition, the ability to exercise the Rights is conditional on the Group achieving certain performance 
hurdles related to relative total shareholder return to the ASX Small Cap Industrial index.

67,223

The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of Rights, based on the value at grant date set out in column B.

The value at exercise date of Rights that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised during the year.
The value at lapse date of Rights that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the year.

The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment  of Rights granted during the year as 
part of remuneration.

B W Hodges

Name

A J Allen
B D Arnott

Nil

S D Burraston
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30 June 2006

E. Other information

Environmental regulation

�

�

�

�

Insurance of officers

Proceedings on behalf of the Company

Non-audit services

�

�

No person has applied to the court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf 
of the Company for all or part of these proceedings.

all manufacturing and engineering sites have developed, implemented, and maintain environmental management systems 
meeting the requirements of ISO14001

A Group wide environmental management system is in place which complies with the international standard ISO14001.  It is 
Group policy to be environmentally proactive and to adopt practices that minimise adverse environmental impacts and to 
communicate and provide appropriate feedback on the Group's environmental performance.  In accordance with the Group's 
environmental policy, procedures and goals have been established aimed at ensuring:

During the year, the Group paid a premium to insure the directors and secretaries of the Company and its Australian-based 
controlled entities, the general managers of each of the businesses, all executive officers of the Group and of any related body 
corporate against a liability incurred by such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations 
Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify any officer of 
the Group or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred by any such officer.

The Group's operations are subject to significant environmental regulation under both Commonwealth and State legislation 
governing, amongst other things, noise, air emissions, the use, handling, and disposal of hazardous substances and waste.  The 
Group has devoted and will continue to devote resources to environmental compliance and management in each of the 
jurisdictions in which it operates.

Based upon the results of inquiries made, the Board is not aware of any significant breaches during the period covered by this 
report nor does it consider the Group is subject to any presently known material environmental liabilities.

continuing reduction of industrial waste disposal costs by continual improvement of working practices, such as cleaner 
production and improved recycling

zero notifiable incidents and zero justified neighbourhood complaints
the environmental management systems are integrated with the existing business systems

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 
237 of the Corporations Act 2001.

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor's 
expertise and experience with the Company and/or Group are important.
Details of the amounts paid to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non-audit services provided during the year 
are set out below.
The Board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with advice received from the Audit Committee, is 
satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and 
objectivity of the auditor
none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Professional Statement 
F1, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the 
Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related 
practices and non-related audit firms:
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Bradken Limited
Directors' report (continued)

30 June 2006

E. Other information (continued)

2006 2005
$ $

Assurance services
1. Audit services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under Corporations Act 2001 188,000   95,000     
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) -           143,000   
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloittes NZ) 17,563     23,661     
Total remuneration for audit services 205,563   261,661   

2. Other assurance services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

IFRS accounting services 30,000     -           
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) - Controls assurance services -           13,500     
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) - Due diligence services -           221,485   
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloitte) - Due diligence services -           129,800   
Total remuneration for other assurance services 30,000     364,785   

Total remuneration for assurance services 235,563   626,446   

Taxation services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

Tax compliance services, including review of Company income tax returns 81,765     -           
International tax consulting and advice 61,761     -           

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) -           37,595     
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloittes NZ) 5,616       8,872       
Total remuneration for taxation services 149,142   46,467     

Auditors' independence declaration

Rounding of amounts

Auditor

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

BW Hodges
Managing Director

Sydney
24 August 2006

A copy of the auditors' independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 
23.

Consolidated

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the "rounding off" of amounts in the directors' report.  Amounts in the directors' report have been rounded off in 
accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

PricewatehouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
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(a)

(b)

This declaration is in respect of Bradken Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

D A Turner Sydney
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

24 August 2006

Auditors Independence Declaration

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

As lead auditor for the audit of Bradken Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been:

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001  in relation to the 
audit; and

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

PricewaterhouseCoopers Centre
26 Honeysuckle Drive
PO Box 798
NEWCASTLE  NSW  2300
DX 77 Newcastle
Australia
www.pwc.com/au
Telephone +61 2 4925 1100
Facsimile +61 2 4925 1199

Liability is limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation Page 23
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2 Maud Street

This financial report covers both Bradken Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of Bradken 
Limited and its subsidiaries.  The financial report is presented in the Australian currency.
Bradken Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Its registered office and principal 
place of business is:

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete, and available globally at 
minimum cost to the company.  All press releases, financial reports and other information are available at our Shareholders' 
Centre on our website: www.bradken.com.au.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 24 August 2006.  The company has the power to amend 
and reissue the financial report.

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's principal activities and a review of operations is included on page 2 
and pages 10 to 11 of the directors' report, both of which are not part of this financial report.

Mayfield West NSW 2304
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Income statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue from continuing operations 5 549,110       486,376       34,457         5,220           
Cost of sales (441,905)      (416,688)      -               -               
Gross profit 107,205       69,688         34,457         5,220           

Other income 6 -               4,062           -               -               
Selling and technical expenses (24,136)        (20,688)        -               -               
Administration expenses (22,751)        (21,144)        -               -               
Finance costs 7 (11,939)        (12,509)        -               -               

Profit before income tax 48,379         19,409         34,457         5,220           

Income tax (expense) / benefit 8 (14,482)        2,707           -               -               

Profit for the year 33,897         22,116         34,457         5,220           

33,897         22,116         34,457         5,220           

Cents Cents

37 32.5 30.4

37 32.3 30.4

Parent entityConsolidated

The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Profit attributable to members of Bradken Limited

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the company:

Basic earnings per ordinary share:
(cents per share) *

Diluted earnings per ordinary share:
(cents per share) *

* 2005 earnings per share value is influenced by the IPO occuring on 18 August 2004 which affects the average number of 
shares on issue during the 12 months ended 30 June 2005.  Refer to note 37 for details of the average number of shares on 
issue.
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Balance sheets
As at 30 June 2006

2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 20,166         1,157           -               -               
Trade and other receivables 10 58,493         68,316         102,479       71,852         
Inventories 11 75,201         75,191         -               -               
Derivative financial instruments 12 204              -               -               -               
Total current assets 154,064       144,664       102,479       71,852         

Non-current assets
Receivables 13 4,235           3,051           -               -               
Other financial assets 14 -               -               172,292       172,292       
Property, plant and equipment 15 151,546       138,686       -               -               
Deferred tax assets 16 18,924         21,310         -               -               
Intangible Assets 17 39,139         40,039         -               -               
Total non-current assets 213,844       203,086       172,292       172,292       

Total assets 367,908       347,750       274,771       244,144       

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 53,509         53,600         -               -               
Borrowings 19 4,242           9,531           -               -               
Current tax liabilities 10,374         6,539           10,386         6,561           
Provisions 20 28,502         27,822         -               -               
Derivative financial instruments 12 192              -               -               -               
Other -               36                -               -               
Total Current Liabilities 96,819         97,528         10,386         6,561           

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 130,233       134,657       -               -               
Deferred tax liabilities 22 2,495           2,222           -               -               
Provisions 23 3,159           4,504           -               -               
Total non-current liabilities 135,887       141,383       -               -               

Total liabilities 232,706       238,911       10,386         6,561           

Net assets 135,202       108,839       264,385       237,583       

Equity
Contributed equity 24 83,337         71,832         248,959       237,453       
Reserves 25(a) 45                (300)             362              130              
Retained profits 25(b) 51,820         37,307         15,064         -               

Total equity 135,202       108,839       264,385       237,583       

The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Parent entity
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Statements of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2006

2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

108,839       20,177         237,583       -               

Reserves 25 (610)             -               -               -               

108,229       20,177         237,583       -               

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax 25 761              -               -               -               

25 (30)               (196)             -               -               

Net income recognised directly in equity 731              (196)             -               -               
Profit for the year 33,897         22,116         34,457         5,220           
Total recognised income and expense for the year 34,628         21,920         34,457         5,220           

24 11,167         70,999         11,167         236,620       
26 (19,393)        (5,220)          (19,393)        (5,220)          
24 74                -               74                -               
25 479              130              479              130              
24 18                833              18                833              

(7,655)          66,742         (7,655)          232,363       
Total equity at the end of the financial year 135,202       108,839       264,385       237,583       

Members of Bradken Limited 34,628         21,920         34,457         5,220           
34,628         21,920         34,457         5,220           

Adjustment on adoption of AASB132 and AASB139,
net of tax, to:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations

Non Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

Parent entity

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as 
equity holders:
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs

Total recognised income and expense for the year is 
attributable to:

Restated total equity at the beginning of the 
financial year

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year

Dividends provided for or paid

Performance Rights Plan
Employee Share Scheme

Consolidated

The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flow statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

607,330       538,446       -               -               

(521,080)      (494,855)      -               -               

86,250         43,591         -               -               
Interest received 440              138              -               -               
Interest paid (10,780)        (11,069)        -               -               
Income taxes paid (8,225)          (6,802)          -               -               

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities 67,685         25,858         -               -               

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment (20,679)        (12,172)        -               -               
Payment for purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 32 (2,935)          -               -               -               
Payment for businesses 32 -               (28,188)        -               -               
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 352              1,564           -               -               

Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities (23,262)        (38,796)        -               -               

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares -               73,319         -               -               
Transaction costs from issue of shares -               (14,545)        -               -               
Payment of finance lease liabilities (4,129)          (2,644)          -               -               
Repayment of borrowings (15,238)        (155,300)      -               -               
Proceeds from borrowings 3,697           173,863       -               -               
Return of capital to equity holders -               (54,265)        -               -               
Dividends paid to company's shareholders 26 (9,725)          (4,154)          -               -               

Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities (25,395)        16,274         -               -               

19,028         3,336           -               -               

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,157           (2,180)          -               -               

(19)               1                  -               -               

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9 20,166         1,157           -               -               

Financing arrangements 21
Non-cash financing and investing activities 36

The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Receipts from customers
(inclusive of goods and services tax)
Payments to suppliers and employees
(inclusive of goods and services tax)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents

Consolidated Parent entity
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Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2006
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Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2006

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

(b) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below.  These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  The financial report includes separate financial 
statements for Bradken Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of Bradken Limited and its 
subsidiaries.

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (AIFRSs), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent 
Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001

Compliance with IFRSs
Australian Accounting Standards include AIFRSs.  Compliance with AIFRSs ensures that the consolidated financial statements 
and notes of Bradken comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).  The parent entity financial statements 
and notes also comply with IFRSs except that it has elected to apply the relief provided to parent entities in respect of certain 
disclosure requirements contained in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure.

Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-
for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer to note 1(h)).

Comparatives
The comparatives for the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cashflow statement are for the period 1 July 
2004 to 30 June 2005 due to the reverse acquisition under AIFRS which results in the consolidated entity being treated as a 
continuation of the existing business.  Refer note 39 for further details.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Bradken Limited (''company'' or 
''parent entity'') as at 30 June 2006 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  Bradken Limited and its 
subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.  The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The 
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Group controls another entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated from 
the date that control ceases.

Application of AASB 1 First time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
These financial statements are the first Bradken Limited financial statements to be prepared in accordance with AIFRSs.  AASB 
1 First time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing 
these financial statements.

Financial statements of Bradken Limited until 30 June 2005 had been prepared in accordance with previous Australian 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP).  AGAAP differs in certain respects from AIFRS.  When preparing the 
Bradken Limited 2006 financial statements, management has amended certain accounting, valuation and consolidation 
methods applied in the previous AGAAP financial statements to comply with AIFRS.  With the exception of financial 
instruments, the comparative figures in respect of 2005 were restated to reflect these adjustments.  The Group has taken the 
exemption available under AASB 1 to only apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 2005.
Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous AGAAP to AIFRSs on the Group's equity and its net 
income are given in note 39.
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Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2006

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Segment reporting

(d) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional currency and presentation currency

(ii) Transactions and balances

(iii) Group companies

�

�

�

(e) Revenue recognition

(i) Sale of goods

(ii) Contract revenue

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings 
and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity.  When a foreign 
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investments are repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange 
differences are recognised in the income statement, as part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable.

all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.  
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.  Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets 
such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are included in the fair value reserve in equity.

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that 
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.  
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.  
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
Group.

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and 
returns that are different to those of other business segments.  A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or 
services within a particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments 
operating in other economic environments.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).  The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, which is Bradken Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income 
statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of Bradken Limited.

Minority interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income statement and 
balance sheet respectively.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST) payable to the taxation authority.  Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade allowances and amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties.  Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when the consolidated entity has passed the 
significant risks and rewards to the buyer.

Contract revenue and expenses are recognised on an individual contract basis using the percentage of completion method 
when the stage of contract completion can be reliably determined, costs to date can be clearly identified, and total contract 
revenue and costs to complete can be reliably estimated.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(iii) Interest income

(iv) Sale of non-current assets

(v) Royalties

(vi) Dividends

(f) Income tax

Tax consolidation legislation

Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused 
tax losses.

Dividend revenue is recognised net of any franking credits.
Revenue from distributions from controlled entities is recognised by the parent entity when they are declared by the controlled 
entities.
Dividends received out of pre-acquisition reserves are eliminated against the carrying amount of the investment and not 
recognised in revenue.

The gain or loss on disposal of non-current assets is included as revenue or expense at the date control passes to the buyer, 
usually when an unconditional contract of sale is signed.  The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds on disposal.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to an assessment of total labour hours and other costs incurred to date as a 
percentage of costs for each contract.
Where the outcome of a contract cannot be reliably estimated, contract costs are expensed as incurred.  Where it is probable 
that the cost will be recovered, revenue is recognised to the extent of costs incurred.  Where it is probable that a loss will arise 
on a contract, the excess of total costs over revenue is recognised immediately as an expense.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Bradken Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) 
and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group.
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the group.  Details about tax funding agreements are disclosed in note 8.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets 
are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction.  
The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the 
deferred tax asset or liability.  An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an 
asset or a liability.  No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a 
transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or 
taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The head entity, Bradken Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own 
current and deferred tax amounts.  These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to 
be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right.

Bradken Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 
July 2003.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where 
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Leases

(h) Business combinations

(i) Impairment of assets

(j) Cash and cash equivalents

(k) Trade receivables

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their 
present value as at the date of exchange.  The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at 
which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  Other assets are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are 
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash generating units).  Non-financial assets 
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A 
provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.  The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.  Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not 
discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.  The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases (note 29).  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the 
income statement on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases (note 14).  Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased 
property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, 
are included in borrowings.  Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.  The finance cost is charged 
to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability for each period.  The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of 
the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are 
recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at 
their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.  The excess of the cost of acquisition 
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill (refer to note 1(q)).  If the 
cost of acquisition is less than the Group's share of the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is 
recognised directly in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net 
assets acquired.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business combinations involving 
entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.  Cost is 
measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, the value of the instruments 
is their published market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated that the 
published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other evidence and valuation methods 
provide a more reliable measure of fair value.  Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised 
directly in equity.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
financial institutions and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance 
sheet.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for doubtful 
debts.  Trade receivables are normally due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Inventories
(i) Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods

(ii) Construction and service contract work in progress

(iii) Stock Obsolescence

(m) Investments and other financial assets

� Reserves and retained profits - note 25
�

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(ii) Loans and receivables

For further information concerning the adjustments on transition date reference should be made to the following notes:

The nature of the main adjustments to make this information comply with AASB 132 and AASB 139 are that, with the exception 
of held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables which are measured at amortised cost (refer below), fair value is the 
measurement basis.  Changes in fair value are either taken to the income statement or an equity reserve (refer below).  At the 
date of transition (1 July 2005) changes to carrying amounts are taken to retained earnings or reserves.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market.  They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the 
receivable.  They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date which are classified as non-current assets.  Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the balance sheet (notes 
10 and 13).

All inventory items are reviewed on a regular basis during the year and a provision raised for products which have not been sold 
for one year unless the review indicates that a sale is likely.

From 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005
The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 only from 1 July 2005.  The 
Group has applied previous AGAAP to the comparative information on financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and 
AASB 139.  For further information on previous AGAAP refer to the annual report for the period ended 30 June 2005.

Adjustments on transition date: 1 July 2005

The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets.  The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in 
the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading which are acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the short term with the intention of making a profit.  Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges. 

From 1 July 2005

Explanation of transition to AIFRSs - note 39: section 5 of this note discloses the adjustment to each line item in the 
financial statements on transition date.

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost 
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being 
allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity.  Costs are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate 
to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on either standard or average basis.  Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale such as expenses of marketing, selling and distribution to customers.

Construction and service contract work in progress is carried at cost plus profit recognised to date based on the value of work 
completed, less progress billings and less provision for foreseeable losses.  If there are contracts where progress billings 
exceed the aggregate costs incurred plus profits less losses, the net amounts are presented under other liabilities.
Cost includes variable and fixed costs directly related to specific contracts, those costs related to contract activity in general 
which can be allocated to specific contracts on a reasonable basis and other costs specifically chargeable under the contract.  
Costs expected to be incurred under penalty clauses and rectification provisions are also included.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

(n) Derivatives

Interest rate swaps

(a)

(b)

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that 
the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  They are included in non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair 
value.  Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.  Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ 
category, including interest and dividend income, are presented in the income statement within other income or other expenses 
in the period in which they arise.

The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
is impaired.  In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
a security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit and loss - is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement.  Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments classified as 
available-for-sale are not reversed through the income statement.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in 
equity are included in the income statement as gain and losses from investment securities.

The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 2005.  The Group 
has applied previous AGAAP in the comparative information on financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 
139.

From 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005

The following sets out how derivatives are accounted for under previous AGAAP.

The net amount receivable or payable under interest rate swap agreements was progressively brought to account over the 
period to settlement.  The amount recognised was accounted for as an adjustment to interest and finance charges during the 
period and included in other debtors or other creditors at each reporting date.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classifies as available-for-sale are 
analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the 
carrying amount of the security.  The translation differences are recognised in the profit or loss and other changes in the 
carrying amount are recognised in equity.  Changes in the fair value of other monetary and non-monetary securities classified 
as available-for-sale are recognised in equity.

Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date - the date on which the Group commits to purchase 
or sell the asset.  Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at 
fair value through profit or loss.  Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value 
and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement.  Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership.

Where an interest rate swap was terminated early and the underlying hedged transaction was:
still expected to occur as designated: the gains or losses arising on the swap upon its early termination continued to be 
deferred and were progressively brought to account over the period during which the hedged transactions were 
recognised
no longer expected to occur as designated: the gains or losses arising on the swap upon its early termination were 
recognised in the income statement at the date of termination.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for 
unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the use of recent arm's 
length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option 
pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Page 35 Bradken Limited



Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2006

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Forward foreign exchange contracts

�

�

�

(i) Fair value hedge

(ii) Cash flow hedge

From 1 July 2005

The nature of the main adjustments to make this information comply with AASB 132 and AASB 139 are that derivatives are 
measured on a fair value basis.  Changes in fair value are either taken to the income statement or an equity reserve (refer 
below).  At the date of transition (1 July 2005) changes in the carrying amounts of derivatives are taken to retained earnings or 
reserves, depending on whether the criteria for hedge accounting are satisfied at the transition date.

For further information concerning the adjustments on transition date reference should be made to:
Derivative financial instruments - note 12

Explanation of transition to AIFRSs - note 39: section 5 of this note discloses the adjustment to each line item in the 
financial statements on transition date.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognised in equity in the hedging reserve.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement within other income or other expense.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date.  The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether 
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.  The Group designates 
certain derivatives as either; (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value 
hedge); or (2) hedges of the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow 
hedge).

Adjustments on transition date: 1 July 2005

Gains or costs arising from entering into a contract intended to hedge the purchase or sale of goods or services, together with 
the subsequent exchange gains or losses resulting from re-measurement of those contracts by reference to movements in spot 
exchange rates were deferred in the balance sheet from the inception of the hedging transaction up to the date of the purchase 
or sale and included in the measurement of the purchase or sale.
Early termination of forward foreign exchange contracts was accounted for on a basis consistent with interest rate swaps (refer 
above).  For both interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts, if the hedged transaction was not expected to occur as 
originally designated, or if the hedge was no longer expected to be effective, any previously deferred gains or losses were 
recognised as revenue or expense immediately.  Early termination of forward foreign exchange contracts was accounted for on 
a basis consistent with interest rate swaps (refer above).
Gains and losses on speculative foreign currency transactions were brought to account as they arose.  These gains and losses 
are measured by reference to movements in the forward exchange rates for the relative currencies.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedge item for which 
the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income 
statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.  
The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in the income 
statement within other income or other expense together with the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion and changes in 
the fair value of the hedge fixed rate borrowings attributable to the interest rate risk.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or 
loss (for instance when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place).  The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest 
rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in the income statement within "finance costs".  The gain or loss 
relating to the effective portion of forward foreign exchange contracts hedging export sales is recognised in the income 
statement within "sales".  However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial 
asset (for example, inventory) or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from 
equity and included in the measurement of the initial cost or carrying amount of the asset or liability.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as 
well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.  The Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions 
have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.
The fair values of various derivative financial instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 12.  Movements in 
the hedging reserve in shareholders' equity are shown in note 25.

Reserves and retained profits - note 25
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(iii) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

(o) Fair value estimation

(p) Property, plant and equipment

Buildings 66 years
Plant and equipment 1 to 20 years
Patterns 1 to 40 years

(q) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.  Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that 
does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement and are included in other income or 
other expenses.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure 
purposes.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows 
at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-
for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.  The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask 
price.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in the income statement.  When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain 
or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These are included in the income 
statement.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(i)).

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.
Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land.  Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life.  Assets are 
depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is 
completed and held ready for use.  Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their 
residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 
assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition.  Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in 
intangible assets.  Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates.  Goodwill is not amortised.  
Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it 
might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity 
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques.  The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at each balance date.  Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for 
long-term debt instruments held.  Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining financial instruments.  The fair value of interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows.  The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the 
balance sheet date.

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying 
cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(ii) Licences

(iii) Research and development

(r) Trade and other payables

(s) Borrowings

(t) Borrowing costs

(u) Provisions

(i) Warranties

(v) Employee Benefits
(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave, sick leave, rostered days off and non-monetary benefits

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  Amortisation is 
calculated using the straight line method to allocate the cost of the licences over their estimated useful lives, which varies 
according to the period over which the expected benefits will arise.  The remaining useful lives of licences varies between two 
and five years.

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred.  Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design 
and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is probable that the project will be a 
success considering its commercial and technical feasibility and its costs can be measured reliably.  The expenditure 
capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of overheads.  Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.  
Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for 
use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, which varies from 3 to 10 years.

A provision is recognised in the accounts when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.  
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Products are warranted against faulty workmanship and in some cases these are specifically extended to periods up to seven 
years or hours used depending on the type of product and contract in place.  Rectification claims are settled in cash or by repair 
of the item, at the discretion of the Group.  Provision for warranty claims are made for claims received and claims expected to 
be received in relation to sales made prior to reporting date adjusted for specific information arising from internal quality 
assurance processes.  Significant uncertainties relate to estimates for construction provisions as these depend on 
circumstances particular to each site.  

Liabilities for annual leave, accumulating sick leave and rostered days off, including non monetary benefits, expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current provisions in respect of employees' services up to the 
reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Liabilities for non 
accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or payable.  Liabilities for 
unpaid wages and salaries up to the reporting date are recognised in current payables.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are 
unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the 
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.  Fees paid on the establishment of loan 
facilities, which are not incremental cost relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the facility or 5 years.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.  Borrowing costs include interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to 
borrowings, amortisation of ancillary costs in connection with arrangement of borrowings, foreign exchange differences net of 
hedged amounts on borrowings, including trade creditors and lease finance charges.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(ii) Long service leave

(iii) Bonus plans

�

�

�

(iv) Employee share and rights plans

(v) Superannuation plan

(w) Contributed equity

(x)  Dividends

(y) Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, eg as the result of a share buy-back, those instruments are deducted from 
equity and the associated shares are cancelled.  No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss and the consideration paid 
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is recognised directly in equity.

past practice gives clear evidence of the amount of the obligation.
Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when they are settled.

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the 
entity, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs 
of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

there are formal terms in the plan for determining the amount of the benefit

The provision for long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made resulting 
from employees’ services provided to reporting date.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.  
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

A liability for employee benefits in the form of bonus plans is recognised in current provisions when there is no realistic 
alternative but to settle the liability and at least one of the following conditions is met:

Share based compensation benefits are provided to employees and directors via the Performance Rights Plan ('PRP') and the 
Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan ('NEDSAP') respectively.

the amounts to be paid are determined before the time of completion of the financial report

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or rights are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
rights for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

The Group contributes to several accumulation superannuation plans.   Contributions are recognised as an expense as they are 
payable.

The fair value of Rights granted under the PRP are recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date taking into account market performance conditions only, and spread over the 
vesting period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the Rights.  The fair value of Rights granted are 
measured using the Black & Scholes Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and conditions attached to the Rights.  The 
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of Rights that vest except where forfeiture is due to 
market related conditions.
The fair value of shares issued under the NEDSAP are recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date.
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(z) Financial instrument transaction costs

(aa) Goods and services tax (GST)

(ab) Rounding of amounts

(ac) New accounting standards and UIG interpretations

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
(v)
(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
(ix)

(x)
(xi)

(xii)
(xiii)
(xiv)

2 Financial risk management 

The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 2005.  The Group 
has applied previous Australian GAAP (AGAAP) in the comparative information on financial instruments within the scope of 
AASB 132 and AASB 139.  Under previous AGAAP transaction costs were excluded from the amounts disclosed in the financial 
statements.  Under AIFRS such costs are included in the carrying amounts, except for financial assets or liabilities that are 
measured at fair value.  At the date of transition to AASB 132 and AASB 139 the adjustment to carrying amounts for the Group 
was immaterial.

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the ''rounding off'' of amounts in the financial report.  Amounts in the financial report have been rounded off in 
accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, unless the GST is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are presented as operating cash flows.

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.  The Group's overall risk management program focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Group.  The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge 
certain risk exposures.

AASB 2005-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 3]: Business combinations involving entities under 
common control  
AASB 2005-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 4, AASB 1023, AASB 139 & AASB 132: Financial 
guarantee contracts
AASB 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures 
AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 
133, AASB 139, AASB1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]:  consequential amendments arising from the  issue of 
AASB 7         

Risk management is carried out centrally by the CFO and finance function under policies approved by the Board of Directors.  

Certain new accounting standards and UIG interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2006 
reporting periods.  The Group's assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits: Accounting for actuarial gains and losses and group plans
AASB 2005-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard [AASB 139]: Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intra-
group transactions 
AASB 2005-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 139, AASB 132, AASB 1, AASB 1023 & AASB 
1038]: Fair value option      
UIG 4 Determining whether an Asset Contains a lease
UIG 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds  

UIG 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
The impact on the Group of these new standards and interpretations is not expected to have a material impact.

UIG 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment 
AASB 2006-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 121]: Clarification regarding monetary items 
forming part of the net investment in a  foreign operation  
UIG 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 
UIG 8 Scope of AASB 2 
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2 Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

(ii) Price risk

(iii) Fair value interest rate risk

(b) Credit risk

(c) Liquidity risk

(d) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill

(ii) Estimated percentage completion for major contracts
The Group reviews the percentage of completion for it's major contracts monthly including assessing costs to be incurred to 
complete the project in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1(e) and note 1(l).  These assessments require an 
estimate of the remaining labour and material costs for the projects.

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures to various 
currencies.

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the entity's functional currency.

The Group's interest-rate-risk arises from long term borrowings.  Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash 
flow interest-rate-risk.  Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest-rate-risk.  Group policy is to fix 
the rates for between 30% and 70% of its borrowings.  
The Group manages its cash flow interest-rate-risk by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps.  Such interest rate swaps have 
the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates.  Generally, the Group raises long-term 
borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates.  Under the interest-rate swaps, the Group agrees with other 
parties to exchange, at specified intervals (mainly quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates and floating-rate 
interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 
1(q).  The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.  These 
calculations require the use of assumptions.  Refer to note 16 for details of these assumptions and the potential impact of 
changes to the assumptions.

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the Group's income and operating cash flows are not materially 
exposed to changes in market interest rates.

It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover all foreign currency exposure other than 
those effectively covered within the natural hedging pool.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  The Group aims at 
maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and 
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.  Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited 
to high credit quality financial institutions.  

Refer to (d) below.

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through the purchase of steel and various alloys.

Page 41 Bradken Limited



Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2006

(continued)

4 Segment information

(a) Primary reporting format - business segments

Industrial

Mining

Mineral Processing

Rail

Intersegment
Mineral eliminations/

2006 Notes Industrial Mining Processing Rail unallocated Consolidated

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Sales to external customers 63,696     212,111   105,896   166,118   -             547,821     
Intersegment sales (ii) -           -           1,420       -           (1,420)        -             
Total sales revenue 63,696     212,111   107,316   166,118   (1,420)        547,821     
Other revenue/income 1,289         
Total segment revenue/income 549,110     

Segment result (ii) 19,786     68,910     30,014     36,812     -             155,522     

(107,143)    

Profit before income tax 48,379       
Income tax expense (14,482)      
Net profit for the year 33,897       

Segment assets 57,031     127,416   66,980     73,035     -             324,462     
Unallocated assets 43,446       
Total assets 367,908     

Segment liabilities (ii) 18,280     22,528     14,748     30,112     -             85,668       
Unallocated liabilities 147,038     
Total liabilities 232,706     

5,869       6,609       7,742       5,632       263            26,115       

1,596       8,174       2,288       2,212       3,300         17,570       

Impairment of inventories Note 11 (14)           191          86            83            -             346            

Impairment of trade receivables Note 10 -           (305)         -           -           -             (305)           

Other non cash expenses / (revenue) 743          (892)         354          195          (774)           (374)           

For management purposes, the Group is organised into four major operating divisions – Industrial, Mining, Mineral Processing 
and Rail.  These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.  The principal products 
and services of each of these divisions are as follows:

Unallocated revenue less unallocated 
expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Acquisitions of property, plant and 
equipment, intangibles and other non-
current segment assets

Supplier of cast, machined and fabricated components manufactured to customer specifications or purpose designed to suit 
customer needs into industries such as Smelters and Refineries, Steel Manufacturers, Power Generation Providers and Sugar 
Production.

Design, supply and service of wear components for all types of earth moving equipment in the Mining and Quarry industries.

Supplier of equipment, servicing and consumables to the mineral processing and quarrying industries.

Package provider of Freight Rollingstock products and services including freight wagons, bogies, drawgear, inventory 
management, spare and renewed parts and the maintenance and refurbishment of rollingstock.  
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4 Segment information (continued)
Intersegment

Mineral eliminations/

2005 Notes Industrial Mining Processing Rail unallocated Consolidated

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Sales to external customers 59,269     174,695   59,403     191,723   -             485,090     
Intersegment sales (ii) -           -           154          -           (154)           -             
Total sales revenue 59,269     174,695   59,557     191,723   (154)           485,090     
Other revenue/income 5,348         
Total segment revenue/income 490,438     

Segment result (ii) 15,917     53,420     13,789     36,681     -             119,807     

(100,398)    

Profit before income tax 19,409       
Income tax expense 2,707         
Net profit for the year 22,116       

Segment assets 55,031     129,788   59,886     75,181     -             319,886     
Unallocated assets 27,864       
Total assets 347,750     

Segment liabilities (ii) 18,944     29,559     15,211     32,292     -             96,006       
Unallocated liabilities 142,905     
Total liabilities 238,911     

4,075       4,111       2,244       5,513       349            16,292       

1,568       7,347       1,377       2,519       2,608         15,419       

Impairment of inventories Note 11 16            (77)           141          (369)         (39)             (328)           

Impairment of trade receivables Note 10 -           359          -           -           -             359            

Other non cash expenses 198          1,124       1,045       (288)         9,794         11,873       

(b) Secondary reporting format - geographical segments

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Australia 453,349   410,944   321,693   317,299   26,030       16,118       
Other countries 94,472     74,146     2,769       2,587       85              174            

547,821   485,090   324,462   319,886   26,115       16,292       
Unallocated assets 43,446     27,864     
Total assets 367,908   347,750   

Acquisitions of property, 
plant and equipment, 

intangibles and other non-
current segment assets

Segment assetsSegment revenues 
from sales to external 

customers

Segment revenues are allocated based on the country in which the customer is located.  Segment assets and capital 
expenditure are allocated based on where the assets are located.

Industrial, Mining, Mineral Processing and Rail operate in both Australia and Other countries.

The Group's divisions are managed on a global basis and operate in two main geographical areas, Australia, the home country 
of the parent entity, and Other countries.  The majority of revenue classified as "Other" relates to the USA, Indonesia and 
various European countries.

Unallocated revenue less unallocated 
expenses

Acquisitions of property, plant and 
equipment, intangibles and other non-
current segment assets

Depreciation and amortisation expense
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(c) Notes to and forming part of the segment information

(i) Accounting policies 

(ii) Inter segment transfers

5 Revenue

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

From continuing operations 
Sales revenue

Sale of goods 547,821       485,090       -               -               
547,821       485,090       -               -               

Other revenue
Interest 440              138              -               -               
Dividends -               -               34,457         5,220           
Rental income 201              212              -               -               
Royalty income 150              172              -               -               
Other (aggregate of immaterial items) 498              764              -               -               

549,110       486,376       34,457         5,220           

6 Other income

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

-               4,062           -               -               
-               4,062           -               -               

(a)

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

-               4,062           -               -               

-               (22)               -               -               

-               4,040           -               -               

Consolidated Parent entity

Parent entityConsolidated

Consolidated Parent entity

Foreign exchange gains (net) (note (a))

Net foreign exchange gains included in other income for the 
year
Exchange losses on foreign currency borrowings included in 
borrowing costs
Net foreign exchange gains recognised in profit before income 
tax for the year (as either other income or expense)

Net foreign exchange gains (net loss in 2006 - refer to 
note 7)

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the entity as disclosed in note 1 and accounting 
standard AASB 114 Segment Reporting .
Segment revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment.  Segment assets 
include all assets used by a segment and consist primarily of receivables, inventories and property, plant and equipment, net of 
related provisions.  Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other creditors, employee benefits and provision for service 
warranties.  Segment assets and liabilities do not include income taxes.

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments.  Sales of scrap between controlled entities are 
made on an "arm's-length" basis and are eliminated on consolidation.  All other transfers are made at variable cost and are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Page 44 Bradken Limited



Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2006

(continued)

7 Expenses

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Depreciation
Buildings 437              407              -               -               
Plant & equipment 9,310           7,873           -               -               
Leasehold improvements 8                  9                  -               -               
Plant & equipment under finance leases 3,254           2,570           -               -               

Total depreciation 13,009         10,859         -               -               

Amortisation
Licences 4,561           4,560           -               -               

Total amortisation 4,561           4,560           -               -               

Finance costs - net
Interest and finance charges paid/payable 11,093         16,522         -               -               
Borrowing costs amortisation 1,159           837              -               -               

12,252         17,359         -               -               
Amount capitalised (313)             (4,850)          -               -               

Finance costs expensed 11,939         12,509         -               -               

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 502              8                  -               -               

Rental expense relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments 1,947           1,404           -               -               

Total rental expense relating to operating leases 1,947           1,404           -               -               

Foreign exchange gains and losses (net gain in 2005 - see note 6)
Net foreign exchange losses 62                -               -               -               

62                -               -               -               

Research and development 4,113           5,020           -               -               

Warranty 2,425           10,451         -               -               

Stock Obsolescence 346              (328)             -               -               

(305)             359              -               -               

Employee benefits expense 162,286       153,668       -               -               

Net foreign exchange losses recognised in profit before income 
tax for the year (as either other income or expense)

Net bad and doubtful debts expense (revenue) including 
movements in doubtful debts provision

Consolidated Parent entity

Profit before income tax includes the following specific 
expenses:
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8 Income tax expense 

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a) Income tax expense
Current tax 12,343         8,373           -               -               
Deferred tax 2,604           (10,808)        -               -               
Under (over) provided in prior years (465)             (272)             -               -               

14,482         (2,707)          -               -               

Income tax expense is attributable to:
Profit from continuing operations 14,482         (2,707)          -               -               
Aggregate income tax expense 14,482         (2,707)          -               -               

Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets (note 16) 2,392           (9,369)          -               -               
(Decrease) increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 22) 212              (1,439)          -               -               

2,604           (10,808)        -               -               

(b)

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense 48,379         19,409         34,457         5,220           

48,379         19,409         34,457         5,220           
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2005: 30%) 14,514         5,823           10,337         1,566           

Tax base uplift on intangibles -               (8,313)          -               -               
Entertainment 73                64                -               -               
Research and development (231)             (376)             -               -               
Share based payments -               289              -               -               
De-recognition of leased assets 122              -               -               -               
Tax offset for franked dividends -               -               (10,337)        (1,566)          
Sundry items 162              69                -               -               

14,640         (2,444)          -               -               
Difference in overseas tax rates 3                  9                  -               -               
Under (over) provision in prior years (161)             (272)             -               -               
Income tax expense 14,482         (2,707)          -               -               

(c)

61                (4,045)          -               -               
61                (4,045)          -               -               

(d)

Consolidated

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in 
calculating taxable income:

Deferred income tax (revenue) expense included in income tax 
expense comprises:

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to 
prima facie tax payable 

Bradken Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 
July 2003.  The accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in note 1(f).
On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the tax consolidated group entered into a tax sharing agreement 
which, in the opinion of the directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a default by 
the head entity, Bradken Limited.

Amounts recognised directly in equity 

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting 
period and not recognised in net profit or loss but directly 
debited or credited to equity

Parent entity

Net deferred tax - debited (credited) directly to equity (notes 
16 and 22)

Tax consolidation legislation
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8 Income tax expense (continued)

9 Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents 

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash at bank and in hand 20,166         1,157           -               -               
20,166         1,157           -               -               

(a)
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows as follows:

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balances as above 20,166         1,157           -               -               
Balances per statement of cash flows 20,166         1,157           -               -               

(b)
These are interest bearing at a rate between 0% and 5.70% (2005: 0% and 5.45%).

10 Current assets - Trade and other receivables 

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Trade receivables 55,657         66,692         -               -               
Provision for doubtful receivables (148)             (473)             -               -               

55,509         66,219         -               -               

Other receivables 1,144           15                -               -               
Deferred foreign currency hedge receivable -               36                -               -               
Prepaid borrowing and loan set up costs 1,075           970              -               -               
Prepayments 765              1,076           -               -               
Inter-group loans -               -               102,479       71,852         

58,493         68,316         102,479       71,852         
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group.

Information concerning the effective interest rate and credit risk of both current and non current receivables is set out in the non-
current receivables note (note 13).

Consolidated Parent entity

Other receivables

The Group has recognised a gain of $305,000 (2005: loss of $359,000) in respect of bad and doubtful trade receivables during 
the year ended 30 June 2006.  The amounts have been included in 'administration expenses' in the income statement.

Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year

Consolidated Parent entity

Bad and doubtful trade receivables

Consolidated Parent entity

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully compensate Bradken 
Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by Bradken Limited for any current tax receivable and 
deferred tax assets relating to the unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to Bradken Limited under the tax 
consolidation legislation.  The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned 
entities' financial statements.

Cash at bank and on hand

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head 
entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of the financial year.  The head entity may also require payment of 
interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments.  The funding amounts are recognised as current 
intercompany receivables or payables (see note 30(e)). 

Prepaid borrowing and loan set up costs
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not incremental cost relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, 
are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the facility.

Effective interest rates and credit risk
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11 Current assets – Inventories 

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Raw materials and stores - at cost 11,214         10,359         -               -               
Work in progress - at cost 21,841         21,583         -               -               

Finished goods
- at cost 39,222         39,492         -               -               

39,222         39,492         -               -               

Construction work in progress:

215,136       121,661       -               -               
Progress billing (212,212)      (117,904)      -               -               

2,924           3,757           -               -               

75,201         75,191         -               -               
(a)

12 Derivative financial instruments 

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Current assets

204              -               -               -               
Total current derivative financial instrument assets 204              -               -               -               

Current liabilities

192              -               -               -               
Total current derivative financial instrument liabilities 192              -               -               -               

12                -               -               -               
(a)

For the Group
A pre tax net adjustment of $872,000 decrease in net assets was recognised representing:
�

�

For further information refer to note 1(n) and section 5 of note 39.

(b)

(i) Interest rate swap contracts - cash flow hedges

Consolidated Parent entity

The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and 
Presentation and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement from 1 July 2005.  At the date of transition to 
these standards of 1 July 2005:

The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations 
in interest and foreign exchange rates in accordance with the Group's financial risk management policies (refer to note 2).

the recognition of the fair value of interest rate cash flow hedges under AASB 139 resulting in an increase in derivative 
financial instrument liabilities of $872,000
the reclassification of foreign currency cash flow hedges under AASB 139 from other current liabilities to derivative 
financial instruments of $36,000.

Forward foreign exchange contracts - 
cash flow hedges ((b)(ii))

Interest rate swap contracts - 
cash flow hedges ((b)(i))

Transition to AASB 132 and AASB 139

Instruments used by the Group

Bank loans of the Group currently bear an average variable interest rate of 6.0%.  It is policy to protect part of the loans from 
exposure to increasing interest rates.  Accordingly, the Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it is 
obliged to receive interest at variable rates and to pay interest at fixed rates.

Consolidated Parent entity

Contract costs incurred and recognised profits less 
recognised losses

Inventory expense
Write downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2006 amounted to 
$346,000 (2005: $328,000 reduction to expense).  The expense has been included in 'cost of sales' in the income statement.
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12 Derivative financial instruments (continued)

At 30 June 2006, the notional principal amounts and periods of expiry of the interest rate swap contracts are as follows:

2006 2005

$'000 $'000

Less than 1 year 4,000           3,500           
1 - 2 years 2,000           4,000           
2 - 3 years 36,250         2,000           
3 - 4 years 8,750           36,250         
4 - 5 years -               8,750           

51,000         54,500         

(ii) Forward exchange contracts

Sell Australian Dollars Average exchange rate
2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000

Buy South African Rands
Maturity
0 to 3 months 192              200              5.0741         4.8481         

Buy Great British Pounds
Maturity
0 to 3 months 50                1,785           0.4026         0.4087         
3 to 6 months -               960              -               0.4066         
6 to 12 months -               480              -               0.4065         

Sell Japanese Yen
Maturity
0 to 3 months 1,123           -               73.0000       -               
6 to 12 months 877              -               77.5200       -               
12 to 24 months -               1,060           -               77.3300       

Group
At balance date these contracts were liabilities of $192,000 (2005: $36,000 classified in other current liabilities).  On the date of 
transition to AASB 132 and AASB 139 on 1 July 2005 the liabilities were reclassified from other current liabilities to derivative 
financial instruments.  An equivalent amount was reclassified to equity, net of tax.

It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover all foreign currency exposures other than 
those effectively covered within the natural hedging pool.

Swaps currently in place cover approximately 42% (2005: 40%) of the bank loan principal outstanding and are timed to expire as 
each loan repayment falls due.  The average fixed interest for the swaps is 6.026% (2005: 6.008%).

The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90 days.  The settlement dates coincide with the 
dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt.  The contracts are settled on a net basis.
The gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instruments at fair value is deferred in equity in the hedging reserve, to the extent 
that the hedge is effective, and re-classified into profit and loss when the hedged interest expense is recognised.  The ineffective 
portion is recognised in income immediately. In the year ended 30 June 2006 $Nil was transferred to profit and loss.
At balance date for the Group these contracts were assets with fair value of $204,000.  In the year ended 30 June 2006 there 
was on the date of transition to AASB 132 and AASB 139 on 1 July 2005 a loss of $876,000 on re measurement to fair value.

The Group has not classified any of these hedging instruments to be effective hedges.
Amounts disclosed above represent currency bought and sold measured at the contracted rate.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding as at reporting date:
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12 Derivative financial instruments (continued)

(c)

(d)

13 Non current assets – Receivables 

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Prepaid borrowing and loan set up costs 2,092           3,043           -               -               
Other receivables * 2,143           8                  -               -               

4,235           3,051           -               -               

(a)

Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Prepaid loan set up costs 2,092           2,092           3,043           3,043           
Other receivables * 2,143           2,143           8                  8                  

4,235           4,235           3,051           3,051           

(b)

(c)

14 Non current assets – Other financial assets

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Shares in subsidiaries (note 33) -               -               172,292       172,292       
-               -               172,292       172,292       

Consolidated Parent entity

There is no significant concentration of interest rate risk.  All other non-current receivables are at the prevailing floating interest 
rate.

2006 2005

* Refer to note 10 for the current portions of these receivables.

Interest rate risk

Credit risk
There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to current and non-current receivables, as the Group has a large number of 
customers, nationally and internationally dispersed.  Refer to note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the 
Group.

Fair values
The fair values and carrying values of non current receivables of the Group are as follows:

Refer to note 21 for the Group's exposure to interest rate risk on interest rate swaps.

Consolidated Parent entity

Credit risk exposures

Interest rate risk exposures

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at maturity.  
This arises with amounts receivable from unrealised gains on derivative financial instruments. 
The Group manages it's exposure by dealing with major financial institutions.
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15 Non current assets - Property, plant and equipment 

Consolidated 
Freehold 

land Buildings

Leasehold 
improve-

ments
Plant and 

equipment

Leased 
plant and 

equipment

Capital 
works in 
progress Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 July 2004
Cost or fair value 8,808       26,977     338          90,466     8,515       2,994       138,098   
Accumulated depreciation -           (990)         (18)           (16,953)    (3,567)      -           (21,528)    
Net book amount 8,808       25,987     320          73,513     4,948       2,994       116,570   

Year ended 30 June 2005
Opening net book amount 8,808       25,987     320          73,513     4,948       2,994       116,570   
Exchange differences -           -           2              -           -           -           2              
Additions 1,535       2,092       -           13,089     4,149       12,174     33,039     
Acquisition through entity acquired -           -           -           -           -           -           -           

-           -           -           10,889     -           (10,889)    -           
Disposals -           -           -           (66)           -           -           (66)           
Depreciation charge -           (407)         (9)             (7,873)      (2,570)      -           (10,859)    
Closing net book amount 10,343     27,672     313          89,552     6,527       4,279       138,686   

At 30 June 2005
Cost or fair value 10,343     29,069     340          114,342   10,643     4,279       169,016   
Accumulated depreciation -           (1,397)      (27)           (24,790)    (4,116)      -           (30,330)    
Net book amount 10,343     27,672     313          89,552     6,527       4,279       138,686   

Year ended 30 June 2006
Opening net book amount 10,343     27,672     313          89,552     6,527       4,279       138,686   
Exchange differences -           -           (30)           (30)           -           -           (60)           
Additions 1,192       575          -           -           5,436       18,912     26,115     
Acquisition through entity acquired -           -           -           668          -           -           668          

-           -           -           17,784     -           (17,784)    -           
Disposals -           -           -           (854)         -           -           (854)         
Depreciation charge -           (437)         (8)             (9,310)      (3,254)      -           (13,009)    
Closing net book amount 11,535     27,810     275          97,810     8,709       5,407       151,546   

At 30 June 2006
Cost or fair value 11,535     29,643     305          131,858   14,437     5,407       193,185   
Accumulated depreciation -           (1,833)      (30)           (34,048)    (5,728)      -           (41,639)    
Net book amount 11,535     27,810     275          97,810     8,709       5,407       151,546   

Parent entity
There were no property, plant and equipment assets in the parent entity during the period 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2006.

(a) Non current assets pledged as security
Refer to note 21 for information on non-current assets pledged as security by the parent entity and its controlled entities.

Transfer (to)/from capital work in 
progress

Transfer (to)/from capital work in 
progress
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16 Non current assets - Deferred tax assets 

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Doubtful debts 43                140              -               -               
Employee benefits 7,329           6,751           -               -               
Licences 5,221           6,883           -               -               
Finance leases -               78                -               -               
Other provisions 3,570           4,044           -               -               
Share issue expenses 2,427           -               -               -               
Amortisation of share issue expenses -               (809)             -               -               
Unrealised foreign exchange differences 54                -               -               -               
Other accruals 280              178              -               -               

18,924         17,265         -               -               
Amounts recognised directly in equity
Share issue expense (note 24(b)) -               4,045           -               -               

18,924         21,310         -               -               

Movements:

Opening balance at 1 July 21,310         7,570           -               -               
Credited/(charged) to the income statement (note 8) (2,392)          9,369           -               -               
Credited/(charged) to equity -               4,045           -               -               
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 32) 6                  326              -               -               
Closing balance at 30 June 18,924         21,310         -               -               

Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 6,354           9,838           -               -               
Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 12,570         11,472         -               -               

18,924         21,310         -               -               

17 Non current assets - Intangible assets 

Consolidated Goodwill Licences Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 July 2004
Cost 13,912         37,973         51,885         
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,553)          (11,404)        (12,957)        
Net book amount 12,359         26,569         38,928         

Year ended 30 June 2005
Opening net book amount 12,359         26,569         38,928         
Additions 5,671           -               5,671           
Amortisation charge -               (4,560)          (4,560)          
Closing net book amount 18,030         22,009         40,039         

At 30 June 2005
Cost 19,583         37,973         57,556         
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (1,553)          (15,964)        (17,517)        
Net book amount 18,030         22,009         40,039         

Parent entityConsolidated

The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to:
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17 Non current assets - Intangible assets (continued)
Goodwill Licences Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Year ended 30 June 2006
Opening net book amount 18,030         22,009         40,039         
Additions 79                -               79                
Acquisition of subsidiary 3,582           -               3,582           
Amortisation charge -               (4,561)          (4,561)          
Closing net book amount 21,691         17,448         39,139         

At 30 June 2006
Cost 23,244         37,973         61,217         
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (1,553)          (20,525)        (22,078)        
Net book amount 21,691         17,448         39,139         

(a)

(b)

(c)

18 Current liabilities - Trade and other payables 

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Trade payables 48,617         49,960         -               -               
Other payables 4,892           3,640           -               -               

53,509         53,600         -               -               

19 Current liabilities - Borrowings

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Secured
Bank loans -               7,000           -               -               
Lease liabilities (note 30) 3,241           2,422           -               -               
Hire purchase liabilities (note 30) 1,001           109              -               -               
Total secured current borrowings 4,242           9,531           -               -               

Consolidated Parent entity

The impairment testing highlights a reasonable buffer between the value-in-use amount and the net book value of assets of the 
CGU. Significant changes in the major assumptions, which are not considered to be reasonably possible, would be required to 
generate an impairment charge.

The recoverable amount on the CGU is determined based on a value-in-use calculations.  These calculations use cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.  Cash flows beyond the five-year 
period are extrapolated using a perpetual growth rate of 1.5% pa.

Management determined assumptions on revenue growth, gross margin, overhead level, working capital and capital expenditure 
have been determined based on past performance and expectations for the future.  The weighted average growth rates used are 
consistent with forecasts included in industry reports.

Consolidated Parent entity

Impairment tests for goodwill

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations 

Impact of possible changes in key assumptions

In performing the value-in-use calculations, the company has applied a post tax discount rate to discount the forecast future 
attributable post tax cash flows.  The post tax discount rate used is an estimated WACC of 9.6%, which would translate into a pre 
tax discount rate of 13.7%.  Similar discount rates were used in 2005 and 2006.

Due to the level of integration and cross production in the plants and business units, goodwill has not been allocated below the 
group level, and the impairment testing has been performed on a single cash generating unit (CGU) being the Bradken group.
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19 Current liabilities - Borrowings (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

20 Current liabilities – Provisions 

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Employee benefits 23,454         21,580         -               -               
Warranty 5,048           6,242           -               -               

28,502         27,822         -               -               

(a)

(b)

Consolidated - 2006 Warranty
Current $'000

Carrying amount at start of year 6,242           
Additional provisions recognised 2,425           
Reclassified to current (note 23) 1,887           
Amounts used (5,506)          
Carrying amount at end of year 5,048           

21 Non current liabilities - Borrowings

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Secured
Bank loans 122,000       130,238       -               -               
Lease liabilities (note 30) 5,278           3,909           -               -               
Hire purchase liabilities (note 30) 2,955           510              -               -               
Total secured non-current interest bearing borrowings 130,233       134,657       -               -               

(a)
The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Bank loans 122,000       137,238       -               -               
Lease liabilities 8,519           6,331           -               -               
Hire purchase liabilities 3,956           619              -               -               
Total secured liabilities 134,475       144,188       -               -               

Provision is made for known warranty claims at balance date.  Most claims are expected to be settled in the next financial year.  
Management estimates the provision based on expected costs to be incurred to resolve the warranty claim.

Movements in provisions 
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Consolidated Parent entity

Warranties 

Fair value disclosures

Security

Details of the Group's exposure to interest rate changes on interest bearing liabilities are set out in note 21.

Details of the fair value of interest bearing liabilities for the Group are set out in note 21.

Details of the security relating to each of the secured liabilities and further information on the bank overdrafts and bank loans are 
set out in note 21.

Interest rate risk exposures

Consolidated Parent entity

Parent entity

Total secured liabilities

Consolidated
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21 Non current liabilities - Borrowings (continued)

(b)

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(c)

Credit standby arrangements
Total facilities

Bank overdrafts 20,000         20,000         -               -               
Standby letters of credit and bank guarantees 40,000         20,000         -               -               

60,000         40,000         -               -               
Used at balance date

Standby letters of credit and bank guarantees 16,390         14,930         -               -               
16,390         14,930         -               -               

Unused at balance date
Bank overdrafts 20,000         20,000         -               -               
Standby letters of credit and bank guarantees 23,610         5,070           -               -               

43,610         25,070         -               -               

Bank loan facilities
Total facilities 170,500       140,500       -               -               
Used at balance date 122,000       137,238       -               -               
Unused at balance date 48,500         3,262           -               -               

48,500         3,262           -               -               

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the financial statements revert to the 
lessor in the event of default.  Hire purchase liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the hire purchased assets 
recognised in the financial statements under plant and equipment revert to the hirer in the event of default.
The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and non current liabilities are as disclosed in the balance sheet 
(refer page 26) less net book value amounts for finance lease assets $8,709,000 (2005: $6,527,000) and net book value amounts 
for hire purchase assets $556,000 (2005: $593,000).

Assets pledged as security 

All bank loans are denominated in Australian dollars.  The bank loans amount in current borrowings comprises the portion of the 
Group's bank loan payable within one year.

In accordance with the security arrangements for the parent entity and subsidiaries bank loans, fixed and floating charges secure 
all the assets and undertakings of the Group together with mortgages over all the Group's interest in real property.

Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the 
following lines of credit:

The current interest rates are 6.0% on the bank loans (2005: 6.62%).

Consolidated Parent entity

The standby letter of credit and bank guarantee facility is a bullet revolving working capital facility incorporating a bank overdraft 
set-off component and a bank guarantee and letter of credit sub-component.  The facility provides access to a line of credit up to 
a limit of $60,000,000.  The bank facility can be drawn at any time in Australian dollars and has a maturity date of June 2008.

Financing arrangements
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21 Non current liabilities - Borrowings (continued)

(d) Interest rate risk exposures

2006 Total
1 year or 

less
Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
3 years

Over 3 to 
4 years

Over 4 to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

122,000 -         -         -         -         -         -         122,000 

-         3,241     2,615     1,861     797        5            -         8,519     

-         866        875        883        882        450        -         3,956     

(51,000)  4,000     2,000     36,250   8,750     -         -         -         
71,000   8,107     5,490     38,994   10,429   455        -         134,475 

Weighted average interest rate 6% 7% 7% 6% 6% 7%

2005 Total
1 year or 

less
Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
3 years

Over 3 to 
4 years

Over 4 to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

137,238 -         -         -         -         -         -         137,238 

-         2,422     1,970     1,340     538        61          -         6,331     

-         109        117        126        134        133        -         619        

(54,500)  3,500     4,000     2,000     36,250   8,750     -         -         
82,738   6,031     6,087     3,466     36,922   8,944     -         144,188 

Weighted average interest rate 7% 7% 7% 7% 6% 6%

(e) Fair value
The carrying amounts and fair values of interest bearing liabilities at balance date are:

On balance sheet 
Non traded financial liabilities
Bank loans
Lease liabilities
Hire purchase liabilities

Fair value is inclusive of costs which would be incurred on settlement of a liability.
(i) On balance sheet

(ii) Off balance sheet

Floating 
interest 

rate

Fixed interest rate

137,238                    
6,331                        

122,000                    
8,519                        

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

619                           
144,188                    

137,238                    
6,331                        

619                           
144,188                    

3,956                        
134,475                    

122,000                    
8,519                        
3,956                        

134,475                    

Hire purchase liabilities (notes 
19, 21 and 30)
Interest rate swaps * (note 12)

The parent entity and certain controlled entities have potential financial liabilities which may arise from certain contingencies 
disclosed in note 29.  As explained in those notes, no material losses are anticipated in respect of any of those contingencies.

The fair value of interest bearing liabilities is based upon market prices where a market exists or by discounting the expected 
future cash flows by the current interest rates for liabilities with similar risk profiles.

Carrying
amount

Fair value Carrying
amount

Fair value

20052006

Hire purchase liabilities (notes 
19, 21 and 30)
Interest rate swaps * (note 12)

Bank overdrafts and loans (notes 
19 and 21)
Lease liabilities (notes 19, 21 
and 30)

The following table sets out the Group's exposure to interest rate risk, including the contractual repricing dates and the effective 
weighted average interest rate by maturity periods.
Exposures arise predominantly from liabilities bearing variable interest rates as the Group intends to hold fixed rate liabilities to 
maturity.

Bank overdrafts and loans (notes 
19 and 21)
Lease liabilities (notes 19, 21 
and 30)

Floating 
interest 

rate

Fixed interest rate
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22 Non current liabilities - Deferred tax liabilities 

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Derivatives held for trading and fair value hedges -               10                -               -               
Leased assets 73                35                -               -               
Depreciation 2,361           2,177           -               -               

2,434           2,222           -               -               

Amounts recognised directly in equity
Cash flow hedges 61                -               -               -               

61                -               -               -               

Net deferred tax liabilities 2,495           2,222           -               -               

Movements:

Opening balance at 1 July 2,222           2,562           -               -               
Charged/(credited) to the income statement (note 8) 212              (1,439)          -               -               
Charged/(credited) to Goodwill -               1,099           -               -               
Charged/(credited) to equity (notes 24 and 25) 61                -               -               -               
Closing balance at 30 June 2,495           2,222           -               -               

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months 2,228           1,980           -               -               
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled within 12 months 267              242              -               -               

2,495           2,222           -               -               

23 Non current liabilities - Provisions

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Employee benefits 2,544           2,002           -               -               
Warranty 615              2,502           -               -               

3,159           4,504           -               -               

Consolidated - 2006 Warranty Total
Non current $'000 $'000

Carrying amount at start of year 2,502           2,502           
Reclassified to current (note 20) (1,887)          (1,887)          
Carrying amount at end of year 615              615              

24 Contributed equity

2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes Shares Shares $'000 $'000

(a)
Ordinary shares (b),(c)

Fully paid 105,817,648      102,766,699      248,959          237,453          

Total contributed equity 248,959          237,453          

Consolidated Parent entity

The balance comprises temporary 
differences attributable to:

Consolidated Parent entity

Parent entity Parent entity

Share capital
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24 Contributed equity (continued)

(b)

Date Notes
Number

of shares Issue price
Parent entity 

$'000

3                        $1.00 -               
102,080,000      $2.40 244,992       

(e) 270,400             $2.40 833              
(d) 416,296             $2.56 1,066           

(13,483)        
4,045           

102,766,699      237,453       

(e) 6,448                 $2.82 18                
(g) 10,490               $2.92 31                
(d) 1,740,216          $3.17 5,518           
(f) 23,089               $4.08 94                

(f) 33,198               $4.05 135              

(f) 3,706                 $4.75 18                

(g) 9,793                 $4.43 43                
318,167             $4.71 1,500           

(d) 905,842             $4.58 4,149           
105,817,648      248,959       

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

Movements in ordinary share capital:

Details

1 July 2004 Opening balance

20 August 2004 IPO share issue

29 October 2004 Employee gift offer (Australia)

11 April 2005 Dividend reinvestment plan issues

Less: Transaction costs arising on share issue 

Current tax credit recognised directly in equity

30 June 2005 Balance

3 August 2005 Employee gift offer (New Zealand)

10 October 2005 Non-exec. director share acquisition plan issues

24 October 2005 Dividend reinvestment plan issues

25 November 2005 Exercise of Rights - transfer from Share Based 
Payments Reserve

12 December 2005 Exercise of Rights - transfer from Share Based 
Payments Reserve

9 March 2006 Exercise of Rights - transfer from Share Based 
Payments Reserve

23 March 2006 Non-exec. director share acquisition plan issues

31 March 2006 Issue of shares as part of the purchase 
consideration for GW Brown Pty Ltd

4 April 2006 Dividend reinvestment plan issues

30 June 2006 Balance

Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to the 
number of and amounts paid on the shares held.
On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon 
a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

Dividend reinvestment plan
The company has established a dividend reinvestment plan under which holders of ordinary shares may elect to have all or part 
of their dividend entitlements satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares rather than by being paid in cash.  Shares have been 
issued under the plan at a 2.5% discount to the market price.  The plan has been suspended effective from the final dividend 
payable in respect to the year ended 30 June 2006.

Employee share scheme
Information relating to the employee share scheme, including details of shares issued under the scheme, is set out in note 38.

Performance Rights Plan
Information relating to the Performance Rights Plan, including details of shares issued under the plan, is set out in note 38.

Non-executive director share acquisition plan
Information relating to the non-exective director share acquisition plan, including details of shares issued under the plan, is set 
out in note 38.
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25 Reserves and retained profits 

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a)
Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges 143              -               -               -               
Share based payments reserve 362              130              362              130              
Foreign currency translation reserve (460)             (430)             -               -               

45                (300)             362              130              

Movements:
Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges

Balance 1 July -               -               -               -               

(610)             -               -               -               
Revaluation-gross (note 12) 1,076           -               -               -               
Deferred tax (note 22) (323)             -               -               -               
Balance 30 June 143              -               -               -               

Share-based payments reserve
Balance 1 July 130              -               130              -               
Rights expense 479              130              479              130              
Transfer to share capital (Rights exercised) (247)             -               (247)             -               
Balance 30 June 362              130              362              130              

Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance 1 July (430)             (234)             -               -               
Currency translation differences arising during the year (30)               (196)             -               -               
Balance 30 June (460)             (430)             -               -               

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(b)

Balance 1 July 37,307         20,411         -               -               
Net profit for the year 33,897         22,116         34,457         5,220           
Dividends (19,384)        (5,220)          (19,393)        (5,220)          
Balance 30 June 51,820         37,307         15,064         -               

(c)
(i) Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges

(ii) Share-based payments reserve

(iii) Foreign currency translation reserve

Consolidated Parent entity

Reserves

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139, 
net of tax (note 12)

Consolidated Parent entity

Retained profits

Nature and purpose of reserves

The hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are recognised directly 
in equity, as described in note 1(n).  Amounts are recognised in profit and loss when the associated hedged transaction affects 
profit and loss.

The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of Rights issued but not exercised.

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve, 
as described in note 1(d).  The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net investment is disposed of.
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26 Dividends

2006 2005

$'000 $'000

(a) Ordinary shares

9,457           -               

9,936           5,220           
19,393         5,220           

9,725           4,154           
9,668           1,066           

19,393         5,220           

(b) Dividends not recognised at year end

12,169         9,457           

(c) Franked dividends

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

16,456         12,633         16,456         12,633         

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:
(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax
(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date, and
(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

Parent entity

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2005 of 9.2 cents (2004: NIL) per fully paid share paid 
on 12 October 2005 (2004: NIL)

Fully franked based on tax paid @ 30%

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 9.5 cents (2005: 5.1 cents) per fully paid 
share paid 30 March 2006 (2005: 23 March 2005)

Fully franked based on tax paid @ 30% (2005: fully franked @ 30%)
Total dividends provided for or paid

Dividends paid in cash or satisfied by the issue of shares under the dividend reinvestment plan 
during the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2006 were as follows:

Paid in cash
Satisfied by issue of shares

In addition to the above dividends, since year end the directors have recommended the payment 
of a final dividend of 11.5 cents per fully paid ordinary share, (2005: 9.2 cents) fully franked 
based on tax paid at 30%.  The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to be paid 
on 13 October 2006 out of retained profits at 30 June 2006, but not recognised as a liability at 
year end, is

The franked portions of the final dividends recommended after 30 June 2006 will be franked out of existing franking credits or out 
of franking credits arising from the payment of income tax in the year ending 30 June 2006.

Consolidated Parent entity

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based 
on a tax rate of 30% (2005: 30%)

The impact on the franking account of the dividend recommended by the directors since year end, but not recognised as a liability 
at year end, will be a reduction in the franking account of $5,215,000 (2005: $4,052,000).
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27 Key management personnel disclosures

(a) Directors
The following persons were directors of Bradken Limited during the financial year:

(i) Chairman - non-executive
N F H Greiner

(ii) Executive director
B W Hodges, Managing Director

(iii) Non executive directors
P J Arnall
V J O'Rourke
G R Laurie 

(b) Other key management personnel

Name Position Employer

A J Allen General Manager - Industrial Bradken Resources Pty Ltd

B D Arnott Chief Financial Officer - 26 October 2005 to 30 June 2006 Bradken Resources Pty Ltd

S D Burraston General Manager - Rail Bradken Resources Pty Ltd

A J Poole Chief Financial Officer - 1 July 2005 to 11 November 2005 Bradken Resources Pty Ltd

E P Sheridan General Manager - Mining Bradken Resources Pty Ltd

B J Ward General Manager - Mineral Processing Bradken Resources Pty Ltd

(c) Key management personnel compensation

2006 2005 2006 2005

2,473,138    1,880,896    -               -               
530,467       351,426       -               -               
343,676       134,972       -               -               

3,347,281    2,367,294    -               -               

(d) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel
(i) Rights provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of rights

The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, 
directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

All of the above persons were also key management persons during the year ended 30 June 2005, except for B D Arnott who 
commenced employment with the Group on 26 October 2005.

Consolidated Parent entity

The company has taken advantage of the relief provided by ASIC Class Order 06/50 and has transferred the detailed 
remuneration disclosures to the directors' report.  The relevant information can be found in sections (a) to (d) of the remuneration 
report on pages 12 to 18.

Details of Performance Rights provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such Rights, together with terms 
and conditions of the Rights, can be found in section (d) of the remuneration report on pages 15 to 18.

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payments
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27 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(ii) Rights holdings

Balance at the 
start of the year

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation
Exercised during 

the year
Other changes 
during the year

Balance at the 
end of the year

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Directors of Bradken Limited
B W Hodges 91,667            85,616            (24,444)          -                 152,839          65,206            
Other key management personnel of the Group
A J Allen 24,499            22,417            (6,533)            -                 40,383            17,272            
B D Arnott -                 30,822            -                 -                 30,822            10,274            
S D Burraston 25,087            24,102            -                 -                 49,189            24,759            
A J Poole 26,583            -                 (7,088)            (19,495)          -                 -                 
E P Sheridan 24,490            23,452            (6,530)            -                 41,412            17,614            
B J Ward 19,288            19,757            (5,143)            -                 33,902            14,302            

Balance at the 
start of the year

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation
Exercised during 

the year
Other changes 
during the year

Balance at the 
end of the year

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Directors of Bradken Limited
B W Hodges -                 91,667            -                 -                 91,667            24,444            
Other key management personnel of the Group
A J Allen -                 24,499            -                 -                 24,499            6,533              
S D Burraston -                 25,087            -                 -                 25,087            6,689              
A J Poole -                 26,583            -                 -                 26,583            7,088              
E P Sheridan -                 24,490            -                 -                 24,490            6,530              
B J Ward -                 19,288            -                 -                 19,288            5,143              

(iii) Share holdings

Balance at the 
start of the year

Received during 
the year from 

Non-Executive 
Director Share 

Acquisition Plan

Received during 
the year on 
exercise of 

Rights
Other changes 
during the year

Balance at the 
end of the year

Directors of Bradken Limited
N F H Greiner 227,491          11,367            -                 11,895            250,753          
B W Hodges 2,623,723       -                 24,444            -                 2,648,167       
P J Arnall 690,135          -                 -                 -                 690,135          
G R Laurie -                 2,878              -                 10,000            12,878            
V J O'Rourke 12,500            6,038              -                 10,216            28,754            
Other key management personnel of the Group
A J Allen 292,142          -                 6,533              -                 298,675          
B D Arnott -                 -                 -                 5,103              5,103              
S D Burraston 208,333          -                 -                 (50,000)          158,333          
A J Poole * 1,263,402       -                 7,088              (1,270,490)     -                 
E P Sheridan 418,357          -                 6,530              -                 424,887          
B J Ward 10,416            -                 5,143              1,070              16,629            

* A Poole resigned on 11 November 2005 and is no longer classified as a key management person.

2006

Name

The number of Rights over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of Bradken Limited and 
other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related entities, are set out below.

The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of Bradken Limited and other key 
management personnel of the Group, including their personally related entities, are set out below.  There were no shares granted 
during the year as compensation.

2006

Name

2005

Name
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27 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(iii) Share holdings (continued)

Balance at the 
start of the year

Received during 
the year from 

Non-Executive 
Director Share 

Acquisition Plan

Received during 
the year on 
exercise of 

Rights
Other changes 
during the year

Balance at the 
end of the year

Directors of Bradken Limited
N F H Greiner -                 -                 -                 227,491          227,491          
B W Hodges -                 -                 -                 2,623,723       2,623,723       
P J Arnall -                 -                 -                 690,135          690,135          
V J O'Rourke -                 -                 -                 12,500            12,500            
Other key management personnel of the Group
A J Allen -                 -                 -                 292,142          292,142          
S D Burraston -                 -                 -                 208,333          208,333          
A J Poole -                 -                 -                 1,263,402       1,263,402       
E P Sheridan -                 -                 -                 418,357          418,357          
B J Ward -                 -                 -                 10,416            10,416            

2005

Name
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28 Remuneration of auditors 

2006 2005 2006 2005

$ $ $ $

(a) Assurance services
Audit services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

188,000       95,000         -               -               
-               143,000       -               -               

17,563         23,661         -               -               
205,563       261,661       -               -               

Other assurance services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

30,000         -               -               -               

-               13,500         -               -               

-               221,485       -               -               

-               129,800       -               -               
30,000         364,785       -               -               

Total remuneration for assurance services 235,563       626,446       -               -               

(b) Taxation services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

81,765         -               -               -               

61,761         -               -               -               
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) -               37,595         -               -               
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloittes NZ) 5,616           8,872           -               -               
Total remuneration for taxation services 149,142       46,467         -               -               

Tax compliance services, including review of company 
income tax returns
International tax consulting and tax advice on mergers and 
acquisitions

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) - 
Controls assurance services
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) - 
Due diligence services
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloitte) - 
Due diligence services
Total remuneration for other assurance services

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work 
under Corporations Act 2001

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG)
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloittes NZ)

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related 
practices and non related audit firms:

It is the Group’s policy to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where 
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ expertise and experience with the Group are important.  These assignments are principally tax advice 
and due diligence reporting on acquisitions, or where PricewaterhouseCoopers is awarded assignments on a competitive basis.  
It is the Group’s policy to seek competitive tenders for all major consulting projects.

Parent entityConsolidated

Total remuneration for audit services

IFRS accounting services
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29 Contingencies 

(a) Contingent Liabilities
The parent entity and Group had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2006 in respect of:

Claims

In addition, the parent entity had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2006 and 2005 in respect of:

Guarantees and letters of credit

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Bank guarantees for contract performance 14,118         14,566         -               -               
Letters of credit 2,272           364              -               -               
Total estimated contingent liabilities 16,390         14,930         -               -               

No material losses are anticipated in respect of any of the above contingent liabilities.

30 Commitments  

(a) Capital commitments 
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Land & buildings
Payable:
Within one year -               148              -               -               

-               148              -               -               
Property, plant and equipment
Payable:
Within one year 4,570           3,587           -               -               
Later than one year but not later than five years -               19                -               -               

4,570           3,606           -               -               

(b) Lease and hire purchase commitments

Within one year 2,639           2,164           -               -               
Later than one year but not later than five years 3,884           1,832           -               -               
Later than five years 1,594           -               -               -               

8,117           3,996           -               -               
Representing:
Non cancellable operating leases 6,683           3,031           -               -               
Future finance charges on finance leases 1,143           849              -               -               
Future finance charges on hire purchases 291              116              -               -               

8,117           3,996           -               -               

Consolidated

During the normal course of business, the Group incurs normal contractors' and product liability in relation to contracts which 
may include claims against the Group.  The Group provides for all known claims.  There are potential contractor or product 
liability claims that may arise in respect of contracts which, at the date of this report, are unknown and, as such, any outcome 
cannot be reliably determined.

A subsidiary of the Company is a party to a joint warranty claim relating to the supply of railway bogies in 2002 and 2003 to 
Queensland Rail.  An agreement was reached between all parties to the dispute.  The Directors believe that the 30 June 2006 
Financial Report adequately reflects the impact of known and anticipated costs in respect of the claim.

Cross guarantees given by Bradken Limited, Bradken Holdings Limited, Bradken SPV Pty Limited, Bradken Operations Pty 
Limited, Bradken Resources Pty Limited are described in note 34.  No deficiencies of assets exist in any of these companies.

Parent entity

Parent entity

These guarantees may give rise to liabilities in the parent entity if the subsidiaries do not meet their obligations under the terms 
of their liabilities subject to the guarantees.

Consolidated

Commitments in relation to leases and hire purchases contracted 
for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:
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30 Commitments  (continued)

(i) Operating leases

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Within one year 1,959           1,678           -               -               
Later than one year but not later than five years 3,130           1,353           -               -               
Later than five years 1,594           -               -               -               

6,683           3,031           -               -               

(ii) Finance leases

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Within one year 3,842           2,865           -               -               
Later than one year but not later than five years 5,820           4,315           -               -               
Minimum lease payments 9,662           7,180           -               -               
Future finance charges (1,143)          (849)             -               -               
Total lease liabilities 8,519           6,331           -               -               
Representing lease liabilities:
Current (note 19) 3,241           2,422           -               -               
Non current (note 21) 5,278           3,909           -               -               

8,519           6,331           -               -               

(iii) Hire purchase payment commitments

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Within one year 899              149              -               -               
Later than one year but not later than five years 3,348           586              -               -               
Minimum lease payments 4,247           735              -               -               
Future finance charges (291)             (116)             -               -               
Total lease liabilities 3,956           619              -               -               
Representing lease liabilities:
Current (note 19) 1,001           109              -               -               
Non current (note 21) 2,955           510              -               -               

3,956           619              -               -               

Commitments in relation to hire purchases are payable as 
follows:

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as 
follows:

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non 
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

The Group leases various plant and equipment with a carrying amount of $8,709,000 (2005: $6,527,000) under finance leases 
expiring within three to five years.  Under the terms of the leases, the Group has the option to acquire some of the leased assets 
on expiry of the leases.

The Group has acquired some production plant and equipment under hire purchase arrangements with a final payment in May 
2010.

Consolidated Parent entity

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is 8.50% (2005: 8.47%).

Operating leases relate to factories and plant and equipment with lease terms generally between 1 to 5 years with a small 
amount being payable over greater than 5 years.  Leases generally provide the consolidated entity with a right of renewal at 
which time all terms are renegotiated.

Consolidated Parent entity

Consolidated Parent entity

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the agreement is 6.67% (2005: 7.33%).
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31 Related party transactions 

(a) Parent entities
The ultimate parent entity within the Group is Bradken Limited.

(b) Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

(c) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 27.

(d) Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

2006 2005 2006 2005

$ $ $ $

Tax consolidation legislation

-               -               10,385,891  6,560,704    

Dividend revenue

-               -               34,456,097  5,219,873    

(e) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:

2006 2005 2006 2005

$ $ $ $

Current receivables (tax funding agreement)

-               -               10,385,891  6,560,704    

(f) Loans to/from related parties

2006 2005 2006 2005

$ $ $ $

Loans to subsidiaries
Beginning of the year -                    -                    71,851,427        -                    
Loans received -                    -                    30,626,530        71,851,427        
End of year -                    -                    102,477,957      71,851,427        

(g) Terms and conditions

Consolidated Parent entity

Current tax payable assumed from wholly-owned tax 
consolidated entities

Consolidated

All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates, except that there are no fixed 
terms for the repayment of loans between the parties.  Outstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable at call in cash.

Subsidiaries

Consolidated Parent entity

Wholly-owned tax consolidated entities

No provisions for doubtful debts have been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has been recognised 
in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.

Parent entity

No provisions for doubtful debts have been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has been recognised 
in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.

Transactions relating to dividends were on the same conditions that applied to other shareholders.
The terms and conditions of the tax funding agreement are set out in note 8(d).
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32 Business combination 

(a) Summary of acquisition

$'000

Purchase consideration (refer to (b) below):
Cash paid 2,729           
Direct costs relating to the acquisition 93                
Equity issued 1,500           

Total purchase consideration 4,322           
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (refer to (c) below) 740              
Goodwill (refer to (c) below and note 17) 3,582           

(b) Purchase consideration

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Cash consideration 2,822           28,188         -               -               
Less: Balances acquired
Bank overdraft (113)             -               -               -               

(113)             -               -               -               
Outflow of cash 2,935           28,188         -               -               

Equity instruments issued as purchase consideration

(c) Assets and liabilities acquired 
The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree's 
carrying 
amount Fair value

$'000 $'000
Trade receivables 539              539              
Inventories 516              516              
Plant and equipment 668              668              
Deferred tax asset 6                  6                  
Trade payables (677)             (677)             
Bank overdraft (113)             (113)             
Provision for employee benefits (19)               (19)               
Current tax liability (180)             (180)             
Net identifiable assets acquired 740              740              

On 28 March 2006 Bradken Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital of G W Brown & Co Pty Ltd.
The acquired business has been integrated into the operations of the Bradken Group, and has contributed revenues of 
$1,847,000 and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation of $363,000 for the period from 28 March 2006 to 30 
June 2006.  The calculation of estimated full year contribution from the acquisition is impracticable due to the many assumptions 
that would need to be made on the level of integration during the period before the acquisition. 
Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Consolidated Parent entity

The goodwill is attributable to the high profitability of the acquired business and synergies expected to arise after the company's 
acquisition of the new subsidiary.  The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired are based on discounted cash flow models.  
No acquisition provisions were created.

At the date of this financial report no additional payments are required.

As part of the purchase consideration of G W Brown & Co Pty Ltd 318,167 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited were issued to 
the vendor at a price of $4.7145.  The fair value of the share issue equated to $1,500,000.
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33 Subsidiaries

Name of entity Country of 
incorporation

Class of 
shares

Equity holding **

2006 2005

% $'000

Bradken Holdings Limited * Australia Ordinary 100              100              
Bradken SPV Pty Limited * Australia Ordinary 100              100              
Bradken Operations Pty Limited * Australia Ordinary 100              100              
Bradken Resources Pty Limited * Australia Ordinary 100              100              
Bradken Finance Pty Limited * Australia Ordinary 100              100              
Bradken Mining SPV Pty Limited * Australia Ordinary 100              100              
G W Brown and Co Pty Limited * Australia Ordinary 100              -               
ANI Chile Ingenieria Limitada Chile Ordinary 100              100              

*

**

34 Deed of cross guarantee 

The companies subject to the Deed are:
� Bradken Limited
� Bradken Holdings Limited
� Bradken SPV Pty Limited
� Bradken Operations Pty Limited
� Bradken Resources Pty Limited
� Bradken Finance Pty Limited
� Bradken Mining SPV Pty Limited

� G W Brown and Co Pty Limited
� ANI Chile Ingenieria Limitada

(a) Consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained profits 

The effect of the Deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of 
any of the subsidiaries under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001.  If a winding up occurs under other provisions of 
the Act 2001, the Company will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full.  The 
subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up.

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, and as there are no other parties to the 
Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by Bradken Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’.

The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.

The companies above, with the exception of Bradken Finance Pty Ltd and Bradken Mining SPV Pty Ltd, became a party to the 
Deed on 12 May 2005.  Bradken Finance Pty Ltd and Bradken Mining SPV Pty Ltd, became a party to the Deed on 10 November 
2005.

The following entities, wholly owned and controlled by Bradken Limited, are not a party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee:

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1(b):

These subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with Class Order 
98/1418 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. For further information refer to note 34.

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly-owned subsidiaries listed below are 
relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit, and lodgement of financial reports, and directors’ 
report.  It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross Guarantee.

Set out below is a consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained profits for the year 
ended 30 June 2006 of the Closed Group outlined above.
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34 Deed of cross guarantee (continued)
2006 2005

$'000 $'000

Income statement
Revenue from continuing operations 548,664       486,222       
Cost of sales (441,815)      (416,688)      
Gross profit 106,849       69,534         
Other income -               4,216           
Selling and technical expenses (24,104)        (20,688)        
Administration expenses (22,738)        (21,161)        
Borrowing costs (11,930)        (12,509)        
Profit before income tax 48,077         19,392         
Income tax expense (14,388)        2,707           
Profit for the year 33,689         22,099         

Summary of movements in consolidated retained profits
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 37,884         21,005         
Profit for the year 33,689         22,099         
Dividends provided for or paid (19,384)        (5,220)          
Retained profits at the end of the financial year 52,189         37,884         

(b) Balance sheet 

2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 19,948         1,126           
Trade and other receivables 58,240         68,304         
Inventories 74,505         75,171         
Derivative financial instruments 204              -               
Total current assets 152,897       144,601       

Non-current assets
Receivables 4,173           3,857           
Other financial assets -               260,000       
Property, plant and equipment 150,880       138,686       
Intangible assets 38,005         42,721         
Deferred tax assets 18,908         21,310         
Total non-current assets 211,966       466,574       

Total assets 364,863       611,175       

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 53,106         53,533         
Borrowings 4,242           9,531           
Current tax liabilities 10,094         6,543           
Provisions 28,444         27,822         
Derivative financial instruments 192              -               
Other -               36                
Total Current Liabilities 96,078         97,465         

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 130,233       397,099       
Deferred tax liabilities 2,495           2,222           
Provisions 3,159           4,504           
Total non-current liabilities 135,887       403,825       

Total liabilities 231,965       501,290       

Net assets 132,898       109,885       

Equity
Contributed equity 81,437         71,962         
Reserves 433              39                
Retained profits 51,028         37,884         
Total equity 132,898       109,885       

Set out below is a consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2006 for the Closed Group outlined above.
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35 Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

33,897         22,116         34,457         5,220           
17,570         15,419         -               -               
1,159           837              -               -               

584              995              584              995              
502              8                  -               -               
179              (33)               -               -               

8,019           3,953           -               -               
506              (12,594)        -               -               

(204)             -               (35,041)        (6,215)          

2,392           (13,479)        -               -               
(355)             (4,858)          -               -               
192              -               -               -               

3,655           (388)             -               -               
274              4,358           -               -               

(685)             9,524           -               -               
67,685         25,858         -               -               

36 Non cash investing and financing activities 

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Acquisition of plant and equipment by means of finance leases 5,437           4,120           -               -               
Acquisition of plant and equipment by means of hire purchase 4,217           624              -               -               

9,654           4,744           -               -               

(Increase) / decrease in other financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Net (gain) loss on sale of non-current assets

(Increase) / decrease in trade debtors and bills of exchange
(Increase) / decrease in inventories

Net exchange differences
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from 
purchase of controlled entity and sale of machinery hire division

(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax assets

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Increase / (decrease) in other provisions
Increase / (decrease) in provision for deferred income tax
Increase / (decrease) in provision for income taxes payable
Increase / (decrease) in other operating liabilities
Increase / (decrease) in trade creditors

Consolidated Parent entity

Ordinary shares issued for acquisition of entities for no cash consideration are shown in note 24.

Dividends satisfied by the issue of shares under the dividend reinvestment plan are shown in note 26 and rights and shares 
issued to employees under the Bradken Limited Performance Rights Plan and the Bradken Limited Employee Share Plan for no 
cash consideration are shown in note 38.

Consolidated

Profit for the year
Depreciation and amortisation of licences

Non-cash employee benefits expense - share-based payments
Amortisation of finance costs 

Parent entity
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37 Earnings per share 

2006 2005

Cents Cents

(a) Basic earnings per share
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 32.5             30.4             
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 32.5             30.4             

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 32.3             30.4             
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 32.3             30.4             

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share

2006 2005

$'000 $'000

Basic earnings per share
Profit from continuing operations 33,897         22,116         

33,897         22,116         

33,897         22,116         

Diluted earnings per share

33,897         22,116         

33,897         22,116         

33,897         22,116         

(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

2006 2005

Number Number

104,306,583      72,646,778        
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:

Rights 557,189             67,906               

104,863,772      72,714,684        

(e) Information concerning the classification of securities

(i) Rights

Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used 
in calculating diluted earnings per share
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating diluted 
earnings per share

Consolidated

Rights granted to employees under the Bradken Performance Rights Plan are considered to be potential ordinary shares and 
have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive.  The Rights have 
not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.  Details relating to the Rights are set out in note 38.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic 
earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as the 
denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share

Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used 
in calculating basic earnings per share

Consolidated

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating basic 
earnings per share

Consolidated

Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used 
in calculating basic earnings per share
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38 Share based payments 

(a) Employee Share Acquisition Plan

2006 2005 2006 2005

6,448           270,400       6,448           270,400       

(b) Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

Summary of share issues in the plan:

2006 2005 2006 2005

10,490         -               10,490         -               

9,793           -               9,793           -               
20,283         -               20,283         -               

Non-executive directors may elect to have a percentage of their annual fixed directors’ fees provided in shares under the Non-
Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan (NED plan).  Participation in the plan is voluntary.
Non-Executive Directors will not be able to sell or otherwise dispose of the shares until the earliest of 10 years after acquisition 
or the Non-Executive Director ceasing to be a director of the Company (except in very limited circumstances).  During this period 
the shares will be subject to a holding lock.
Shares will be issued as new shares and the number of shares allocated will be determined on the basis of the weighted 
average price of Shares on ASX on the five trading days up to and including the allocation date to satisfy the allocation.
The appropriate number of shares are issued on a semi-annual basis.  In general, the allocation date will be the day following 
the end of the relevant fee period.

Shares issued under the plan to participating 
directors on 24 August 2005 (2005: NIL)
Shares issued under the plan to participating 
directors on 23 February 2006 (2005: NIL)

There were no other shares eligible for issuance under the scheme at 30 June 2006.

Shares issued under the plan to participating
employees on 3 August 2005

The 2006 share issue was for employees based in New Zealand.  The 2005 share issue was for Australian based employees.  
The weighted average market price of shares issued in 2006 was $2.82 (2005: $3.08).  There were no other shares eligible for 
issuance under the scheme at 30 June 2006.

Consolidated Parent entity

Solely at the discretion of the Board, similar allocations may be made in subsequent years, subject to the performance of the 
Company.  Directors who participate in the Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan or the Performance Rights Plan are 
not currently eligible to participate in offers under the ESAP.

The Company has a Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan (NED Plan) which was approved at a members meeting on 
22 April 2004.  All current and future Non-Executive Directors are encouraged to have a percentage of their annual Directors’ 
fees provided in shares under the NED Plan.  Shares will be allocated to the Non-Executive Directors under the NED Plan and 
must be held for a specified period.

The Company has an Employee Share Acquisition Plan (ESAP) which was approved at a members meeting on 22 April 2004.  
The ESAP is a general employee share plan pursuant to which employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries may 
participate, at the invitation of the Board, in the acquisition of shares on terms and conditions determined by the Board.  Shares 
issued under ESAP rank equally with other fully paid ordinary shares.  Employees may elect not to participate in the plan.
In accordance with current Australian Tax legislation in order to allow employees to make an election to seek an exemption from 
tax in relation to shares acquired under the ESAP, shares acquired under the ESAP must be held in the ESAP for a minimum of 
three years (or earlier cessation of relevant employment).  During that time, the shares are subject to a disposal restriction such 
that the participant cannot deal in (i.e. sell or transfer) the shares.
Further, an employee participating in the ESAP cannot forfeit shares allocated by the Company in any circumstances.  The 
Board has the discretion to determine the specific terms and conditions applying to each offer.

Consolidated Parent entity
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38 Share based payments (continued) 

(c) Performance Rights Plan

Summary of Rights issues in the plan:

Grant date
Number of 

Rights
Fair value per 

Right
91,667            1.57

174,749          1.41
444,068          4.15

The rules of the PRP provide that the Board may determine a price that is payable to exercise a Performance Right, or that no 
amount is payable by the executive upon exercise of the Right.

The Company has a Performance Rights Plan (PRP) which was approved at a members meeting on 22 April 2004.  The PRP is 
the Company’s long-term incentive scheme for selected key senior executives.  The Managing Director recommends the list of 
executives who are entitled to participate in this scheme and seeks approval of the list from the Board.  Under the PRP, eligible 
executives may be granted Performance Rights (each being a right to acquire a share, subject to the satisfaction of exercise 
conditions) on terms and conditions determined by the Board.  If the exercise conditions are satisfied, the Performance Rights 
may be exercised and the shares delivered to the executive.  The Board may impose restrictions on the disposal of the shares 
and implement procedures to enforce the restrictions.

For each grant performance conditions are tested following the end of each financial year and at the end of the following two 
financial years.  For each grant of Rights a maximum one third may become exercisable in each financial year.

If any additional persons become entitled to participate in the PRP and their participation requires approval under Chapter 10 of 
the Listing Rules, they will not participate in the PRP until shareholder approval is received pursuant to Listing Rule 10.14.  Mr 
Brian Hodges, being the only Executive Director of the Company, is the only Director entitled to participate in the PRP.  If any 
other Director is to participate in the PRP, the Company would seek shareholder approval as required by the Listing Rules.
The performance conditions are based on the relative total shareholder return (“TSR”) of the Company measured against other 
companies in the ASX Small Cap Industrials index for the period since grant of the Performance Rights.  TSR measures the total 
return on investment of a share taking into account capital appreciation, capital return and dividend income.

0

There were no other Rights eligible for issuance under the scheme at 30 June 2006.

All grants of Performance Rights issued so far have been at no cost to participating executives.  In relation to future grants, the 
Board may impose performance conditions that reflect the Company’s business plans, targets, budgets and its performance 
relative to peer groups of companies.

Shares will immediately be allocated on exercise of a Performance Right.  Performance Rights may only be exercised following 
satisfaction of performance conditions, unless the Board determines an event (such as a takeover bid) has occurred.

The Company’s TSR equals or exceeds performance of the median company in ASX 
Small Cap

The Company’s TSR ranked in fourth quartile of companies in ASX Small Cap 100

18 November 2005

Financial periods in which 
Rights may vest

30 June 2005 / 2006 / 2007
30 June 2005 / 2006 / 2007
30 June 2006 / 2007 / 2008

30 June 2005
18 August 2004

Dividends, changes in share price, and return of capital are included in the TSR calculation which is one of the performance 
criteria assessed for the LTI.  The specific TSR performance conditions in relation to the grants are:

The Company’s TSR ranked in third quartile of companies in ASX Small Cap

50

Pro rata between 50% and 100%
(2% increase for each higher ranking)

Target Percentage of Rights available
in given year to vest

The Company’s TSR does not meet performance of the median company in ASX Small 
Cap

In assessing whether the performance hurdles have been met, the Remuneration Committee receives independent data from an 
independent investment bank which provides both Bradken's growth from previous financial years and that of the ASX Small 
Cap companies.  The Company's performance against the hurdle is then determined with each company in the ASX Small Cap 
companies and Bradken being ranked in order of growth in results from previous financial years.  The Company's percentile 
ranking is determined by aggregating the weighting within the ASX Small Cap companies (based on market capitalisation) of 
each company ranked below Bradken.  The method of assessment was chosen as it provides the Committee with an objective 
means of measuring the Company's performance against its peer group.
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38 Share based payments (continued) 

The movements in Rights issues in the plan are as follows:

Grant Date Expiry date
Fair value at 
grant date

Balance at 
start of the 

year

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of the 

year

Exercisable at 
end of the 

year

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Consolidated and parent entity - 2006

18 August
2004

30 June
2007 1.57           91,667       -             (24,444)      -             67,223       36,667       

30 June
2005

30 June
2007 1.41           174,749     -             (35,549)      (19,495)      119,705     70,317       

18 November
2005

30 June
2008 2.35           -             444,068     -             -             444,068     148,023     

Total 266,416     444,068     (59,993)      (19,495)      630,996     255,007     

Weighted average price 1.47           2.35           1.48           1.41           2.09           1.98           

Consolidated and parent entity - 2005

18 August
2004

30 June
2007 1.57           -             91,667       -             -             91,667       24,444       

30 June
2005

30 June
2007 1.41           -             174,749     -             -             174,749     46,596       

Total -             266,416     -             -             266,416     71,040       

Weighted average price 1.47           1.47           1.47           

Fair value of Rights granted

The following factors and assumptions have been used in determining the fair value of Rights for the issues granted:

Expiry Date Fair value 
per Right

Exercise 
price

Price of 
shares on 
grant date

Estimated 
volatility

Risk free 
interest rate

Dividend 
yield

30/06/2007 1.57           -             2.66           90% 5.44% 0.00%
30/06/2007 1.41           -             2.80           90% 5.17% 0.00%
30/06/2008 2.35           -             4.15           90% 5.35% 0.00%

(d)     Expenses arising from share based payment transactions

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Rights issued under Performance Rights Plan 478            130            478            130            
Shares issued under the Non-Executive Directors Share Acquisition Plan 88              32              88              32              
Shares issued under the Employee Share Acquisition Plan 18              833            18              833            

584            995            584            995            

18/11/2005

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any 
expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

Consolidated Parent entity

Total expenses arising from share based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit expense 
were as follows:

30/06/2005

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of Rights exercised regularly during the year ended 30 June 2006 was 
$3.98.  The weighted average remaining contractual life of share Rights outstanding at the end of the period was 1.79 years 
(2005: 2.00 years).

The assessed fair value at grant date of Rights granted during the year ended 30 June 2006 was $2.35 per right (2005: between 
$1.41 and $1.57).  The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black Scholes option pricing model that takes into account 
the exercise price, the term of the Right, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non tradeable nature of 
the Right, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the 
risk free interest rate for the term of the Right.

Grant Date

18/08/2004
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39 Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs 

(1)

(a) At the date of transition to AIFRS: 1 July 2004 

(b) At the end of the last reporting period under previous AGAAP: 30 June 2005 

Notes Previous
AGAAP

Effect of
transition to

AIFRS

AIFRS Previous
AGAAP

Effect of
transition to

AIFRS

AIFRS

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,157       -           1,157       -           -           -           
Trade and other receivables (d),(e),(h) 66,219     2,097       68,316     -           71,852     71,852     
Inventories 75,191     -           75,191     -           -           -           
Other (h) 1,127       (1,127)      -           -           -           -           
Derivative financial instruments -           -           -           -           -           -           
Total current assets 143,694   970          144,664   -           71,852     71,852     

Non-current assets
Receivables (e),(h) 8              3,043       3,051       57,687     (57,687)    -           
Other financial assets -           -           -           172,292   -           172,292   
Property, plant and equipment (b),(c) 151,625   (12,939)    138,686   -           -           -           
Intangible Assets (a),(b),(e) 163,161   (123,122)  40,039     -           -           -           
Deferred tax assets (e) 11,113     10,197     21,310     11,074     (11,074)    -           
Other (h) 4,013       (4,013)      -           -           -           -           
Total non-current assets 329,920   (126,834)  203,086   241,053   (68,761)    172,292   
Total assets 473,614   (125,864)  347,750   241,053   3,091       244,144   

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 53,600     -           53,600     -           -           -           
Borrowings (c) 7,269       2,262       9,531       -           -           -           
Current tax liabilities (b) 6,504       35            6,539       6,526       35            6,561       
Provisions (g) 20,925     6,897       27,822     -           -           -           
Other 36            -           36            -           -           -           
Total Current Liabilities 88,334     9,194       97,528     6,526       35            6,561       

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings (c) 130,861   3,796       134,657   -           -           -           
Deferred tax liabilities (e) 1,952       270          2,222       1,952       (1,952)      -           
Provisions (g) 11,401     (6,897)      4,504       -           -           -           
Total non-current liabilities 144,214   (2,831)      141,383   1,952       (1,952)      -           
Total liabilities 232,548   6,363       238,911   8,478       (1,917)      6,561       
Net assets 241,066   (132,227)  108,839   232,575   5,008       237,583   

Equity
Contributed equity (b),(d),(e) 232,575   (160,743)  71,832     232,575   4,878       237,453   
Reserves (d) (430)         130          (300)         -           130          130          
Retained profits (f) 8,921       28,386     37,307     -           -           -           
Total equity 241,066   (132,227)  108,839   232,575   5,008       237,583   

Reconciliation of equity reported under previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP) to 
equity under Australian equivalents to IFRSs (AIFRS)

A 1 July 2004 reconciliation of equity is not included.  The directors consider this reconciliation would be misleading as the 
company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange in August 2004.  The July 2004 balance sheet does not reflect the listed entity 
nor is it comparable to the financial statements reported for the June 2005 year and forward.  A reconciliation of equity for 30 
June 2005 is provided below.

Parent entityConsolidated
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39 Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued)

(2)

Notes Previous
AGAAP

Effect of
transition to

AIFRS

AIFRS Previous
AGAAP

Effect of
transition to

AIFRS

AIFRS

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue from continuing operations (b),(i) 416,661   69,715     486,376   5,220       -           5,220       
Cost of sales (b),(c) (347,584)  (69,104)    (416,688)  -           -           -           
Gross profit 69,077     611          69,688     5,220       -           5,220       

Other income (i) 5,204       (1,142)      4,062       -           -           -           
Selling and technical expenses (c) (18,047)    (2,641)      (20,688)    -           -           -           
Administration expenses (a),(b),(c),(d) (26,347)    5,203       (21,144)    -           -           -           
Finance costs (c) (9,513)      (2,996)      (12,509)    -           -           -           

Profit before income tax 20,374     (965)         19,409     5,220       -           5,220       

Income tax expense (b),(c),(e) (6,233)      8,940       2,707       -           -           -           

Profit for the half-year 14,141     7,975       22,116     5,220       -           5,220       

14,141     7,975       22,116     5,220       -           5,220       

(3)
The adoption of AIFRSs has not resulted in any material adjustments to the cash flow statement.

(4)
(a) Goodwill

Balance sheet impact
(i) At 30 June 2005

Income statement impact
(i) For the period ended 30 June 2005

(b) Reverse Acquisition

Notes to the reconciliations 

Goodwill amortisation for the period to 30 June 2005 has been reversed.  This results in an increase of $727,000 in intangible 
assets and an increase of $727,000 in retained earnings.

Net Profit attributable to members 
of Bradken Limited

Reconciliation of profit for the year ended 30 June 2005

Goodwill amortisation decreases by $5,205,000, being $727,000 as a result of no longer amortising goodwill and $4,478,000 due 
to the reverse acquisition discussed below at (b) Reverse Acquisition.

In respect of acquisitions prior to transition date, goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the 
amount recorded under Australian GAAP, adjusted for reclassifications of other assets and liabilities to align with the AIFRS 
recognition criteria.  No reclassifications have occurred.

Under AGAAP the acquisition of the Bradken Holdings Pty Limited Group by Bradken Limited on 20 August 2004 was recognised 
in the consolidated entity at cost, being the fair value of the assets acquired.  This resulted in an increase in the value of 
Licences, Land, Buildings and Goodwill recognised in the Bradken Limited Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
compared to the carrying amounts previously recognised by the Bradken Holdings Group.  

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Under AGAAP goodwill was amortised however is no longer 
amortised under AIFRS.  Goodwill will be allocated to cash generating units and tested annually for impairment.  There have 
been no adjustments required for impairment in the current period.

Consolidated Parent entity

Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of a business combination over the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Reconciliation of cash flow statement for the period ended 30 June 2005

Other effects on Goodwill are discussed below at (b) Reverse Acquisition and (e) Deferred tax liabilities / deferred tax assets.
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39 Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued)

(b) Reverse Acquisition (continued)

Balance sheet impact
(i) At 30 June 2005

Income statement impact
(i) For the period ended 30 June 2005

(c) Leased Assets

Balance sheet impact
(i) At 30 June 2005

Income statement impact
(i) For the period ended 30 June 2005

(d) Share based payments
Employee Gift Offer

Performance Rights Plan

There is an increase in property, plant and equipment of $5,817,000, an increase in current interest-bearing liabilities of 
$2,262,000, an increase in non-current interest-bearing liabilities of $3,796,000 and a decrease in retained profits of $241,000. 
Deferred tax assets increase by $78,000 and retained earnings increase by $65,000.

The value of the Licences decrease by $22,944,000, Land and Buildings decrease by $18,756,000 and Goodwill decreases by 
$102,004,000.  This is offset by a reduction in equity of $165,621,000 and an increase in retained profits of $21,917,000.  This 
results in an increase in Deferred tax assets of $6,883,000 (refer note (e)) and an increase in Current tax liabilities of $35,000.

Under AIFRS, the fair value of the Gift Offer must be recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date at the closing market price on that date.

Transactions for the period from 1 July 2004 to the date of the business combination on 20 August 2004 results an increase in 
revenue of $68,429,000, an increase in Cost of Sales of $69,483,000 an increase in other income of $144,000, an increase in 
Selling and technical expenses of $2,759,000, an increase in administration expense of $3,858,000 an increase in finance costs 
of $2,532,000 and a decrease in income tax expense of $2,786,000.

Under Australian GAAP no expense was recognized for shares issued to employees under an Employee Gift Offer.

Amortisation of licences and depreciation of land and buildings decreases by $4,766,000 and $114,000 respectively. Income tax 
expense decreases by $6,848,000 as a result of the fair value uplift of assets no longer being amortised or depreciated.

Under AIFRS, the fair value of Rights granted is recognized as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date taking into account market performance conditions only, and spread over the 
vesting period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the Rights.  The fair value of Rights granted is 
measured using the Black & Scholes Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and conditions attached to the Rights.  The 
amount recognized as an expense will be adjusted to reflect the actual number of Rights that vest except where forfeiture is due 
to market related conditions.

Under Australian GAAP no expense was recognized for Performance Rights or Rights issued to employees.

There is a net decrease in cost of sales, selling and technical expenses and administration expenses of $265,000, $118,000 and 
$53,000 respectively.  Borrowing costs increase by $464,000. Income tax expense decreases by $14,000.

At the date for transition to AIFRS leases are classified as operating leases or finance leases on the basis of circumstance 
existing at inception of the lease.  Under Australian GAAP certain leases were classified as operating leases, in accordance with 
prescribed quantitative measures, however are classified as finance leases under AIFRS.  The effect is:

The structure of the acquisition was such that Bradken Limited was incorporated to issue equity instruments in order to effect a 
business combination and as such AASB3 paragraph 22 applies and treats the transaction as a reverse acquisition.  As a result 
the consolidated financial statements represents a continuation of the existing business and the financial statements of the 
Bradken Holdings Group (the legal subsidiaries of Bradken Limited) for the whole of the comparative period (1 July 2004 to 31 
December 2004).  Also as a result the uplift in fair value of assets previously recognised in the consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position under AGAAP is not available under AIFRS. The effect is:

In the parent entity there is an increase in Current tax liabilities of $35,000.
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39 Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued)

(d) Share based payments (continued)

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

Balance sheet impact
(i) At 30 June 2005

Income statement impact
(i) For the period ended 30 June 2005

(e) Deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability

Balance sheet impact
(i) At 30 June 2005

Consolidated Parent entity

Notes $'000 $'000

Adjustments arising from adoption of AASB 112 3,236       (11,074)    

Reverse acquisition (b) 6,883       -           
Leases assets (c) 78            -           
Increase in deferred tax asset 10,197     (11,074)    

Consolidated Parent entity

Notes $'000 $'000

Adjustments arising from adoption of AASB 112 270          (1,952)      
Increase in deferred tax liability 270          (1,952)      

Income statement impact
(i) For the period ended 30 June 2005

In the parent entity contributed equity increases by $833,000 associated with the Employee Gift Offer and Reserves increase by 
$130,000 associated with the Performance Rights Plan.  There is a corresponding increase in current receivables of $963,000.

30 June 2005

Contributed equity increases by $833,000 associated with the Employee Gift Offer and Reserves increase by $130,000 
associated with the Performance Rights Plan.  There is a corresponding decrease in retained earnings of $963,000.

Administration expense increases by $833,000 representing the employee benefit expense associated with the Employee Gift 
Offer and $130,000 representing the employee benefit expense associated with the Performance Rights Plan.

As a result of the above effect on deferred tax assets / liabilities there is a net increase in retained earnings of $829,000 and an 
increase in goodwill of $1,099,000 at 30 June 2005.
There is a increase in current receivables of $13,202,000 in the parent entity associated with these changes. 

Application of AASB 112 to adjustments arising from adoption 
of other AASB's

Under Australian GAAP an expense is recognized for shares issued under the Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan.
Under AIFRS, the fair value of shares issued under the Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan is recognized as an 
employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date.

Under previous AGAAP income tax expense was calculated by reference to the accounting profit after allowing for permanent 
differences. Deferred tax was not recognised in relation to amounts recognised directly in equity.  The adoption of AIFRS has 
resulted in a change in accounting policy.  The application of AASB 112 Income Taxes  has resulted in the recognition of deferred 
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets on tax base revaluations of non current assets.  The effects are as follows:

The effects on the deferred tax liability of the adoption of AIFRS are as follows (tax rate of 30%):

For the Group this has increased income tax expense by $809,000.

The effects on the deferred tax assets of the adoption of AIFRS are as follows (tax rate of 30%):

30 June 2005

As total Director’s remuneration (including the fair value of the shares) was expensed, for the financial period ended 30 June 
2005 there is no affect on expense and retained profits.
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39 Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued)

(f) Retained earnings

Consolidated Parent entity

Notes $'000 $'000

Reverse acquisition (b) 21,917     
Leased assets (c) (176)         
Share based payments (d) (963)         
Taxation (b),(c),(d),(e) 6,881       
Goodwill amortisation adjustment (a) 727          
Total adjustment 28,386     -           

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 28,386     -           

(g) Provisions

Balance sheet impact
(i) At 30 June 2005

(h) Trade and other receivables

(i) Other Income

(j) Financial Instruments

In the parent entity an amount of $57,687,000 in respect to inter-group loans has been re-classified from non-current receivables 
to current receivables.  Under previous AGAAP these loans were classified as non-current based on expected timing of 
settlement.  Under AIFRS they have been re-classified as current on the basis of being "at call".

The Group has elected to apply the exemption from restatement of comparatives for AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure 
and Presentation  and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement .  It has therefore continued to apply the 
previous AGAAP rules to derivatives, financial assets and financial liabilities and also to hedge relationships for the year ended 
30 June 2005.  The adjustments required for differences between previous AGAAP and AASB 132 and AASB 139 have been 
determined and recognised at 1 July 2005.  Refer to section 5 of this note and note 1 for further details.

An amount of $1,127,000, representing prepayments and other current assets at 30 June 2005, has been reclassified from other 
current assets under AGAAP to trade and other receivables under AIFRS.  This has resulted in a decrease of $1,127,000 in other 
current assets and an increase of $1,127,000 in trade and other receivables.
Capitalised borrowing costs at 30 June 2005 have been reclassified from other non current assets under AGAAP to other 
receivables under AIFRS.  This has resulted in a decrease of $4,013,000 in other non current assets, an increase of $970,000 in 
trade and other receivables and an increase of $3,043,000 in receivables non current.

An amount of $1,286,000 has been reclassified from other income under AGAAP to revenue from continuing operations AIFRS.  
This has resulted in a decrease of $1,286,000 in other revenue and an increase of $1,286,000 in revenue from continuing 
operations.

30 June 2005

Under previous AGAAP provisions for long service leave were classified as non current in accordance with when they were 
expected to be paid.  The adoption of AIFRS has resulted in a change in accounting policy.  The application of AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements  has resulted in the recognition of long service leave as a current provision to the extent 
where the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting date.  The effect is:

There is an increase in Current Provisions of $6,897,000 and a decrease in Non Current Provisions of $6,897,000.

The effect on retained earnings of the changes set out above are as follows at 30 June 2005:
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39 Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued)

(5)

30 June 
2005

Adjustment 1 July 
2005

30 June 
2005

Adjustment 1 July 
2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,157       -           1,157       -           -           -           
Trade and other receivables 68,316     -           68,316     71,852     -           71,852     
Inventories 75,191     -           75,191     -           -           -           
Total current assets 144,664   -           144,664   71,852     -           71,852     

Non-current assets -           
Receivables 3,051       -           3,051       -           -           -           
Other financial assets -           -           -           172,292   -           172,292   
Property, plant and equipment 138,686   -           138,686   -           -           -           
Intangible Assets 40,039     -           40,039     -           -           -           
Deferred tax assets 21,310     262          21,572     -           -           -           
Total non-current assets 203,086   262          203,348   172,292   -           172,292   
Total assets 347,750   262          348,012   244,144   -           244,144   

Current liabilities -           
Trade and other payables 53,600     -           53,600     -           -           -           
Borrowings 9,531       -           9,531       -           -           -           
Current tax liabilities 6,539       -           6,539       6,561       -           6,561       
Provisions 27,822     -           27,822     -           -           -           
Derivative financial instruments -           908          908          -           -           -           
Other 36            (36)           -           -           -           -           
Total Current Liabilities 97,528     872          98,400     6,561       -           6,561       

Non-current liabilities -           
Borrowings 134,657   -           134,657   -           -           -           
Deferred tax liabilities 2,222       11            2,233       -           -           -           
Provisions 4,504       -           4,504       -           -           -           
Total non-current liabilities 141,383   11            141,394   -           -           -           
Total liabilities 238,911   883          239,794   6,561       -           6,561       
Net assets 108,839   (621)         108,218   237,583   -           237,583   

Equity -           
Contributed equity 71,832     -           71,832     237,453   -           237,453   
Reserves (300)         -           (300)         130          -           130          
Retained profits 37,307     (621)         36,686     -           -           -           
Total equity 108,839   (621)         108,218   237,583   -           237,583   

40 Events occurring after balance sheet date

No material events have occurred that affect the operations of the Group from the end of the financial period ended 30 June 2006 
to the date of issue of this report.

Adjustments on transition to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation  and AASB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement : 1 July 2005

Refer to notes 1(o), 1(p) and 1(ac) for further information on the transition to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and 
Presentation  and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on 1 July 2005.

Consolidated Parent entity
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Bradken Limited
Directors’ declaration

30 June 2006

(a)

(i)

(ii)

(b)

(c)

(d)

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

NFH Greiner
Chairman

BW Hodges Sydney
Managing Director 24 August 2006

In the directors' opinion:

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A 
of the Corporations Act 2001 .

the financial statements and notes set out on pages 24 to 81 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 , including: 

giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of its 
performance, as represented by the results of their operations, changes in equity and their cash flows, for the financial 
year ended on that date; and

complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001  and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable; and

at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group 
identified in Note 34 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of 
the deed of cross guarantee described in Note 34.

the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 12 to 18 of the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standards 
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001 ; and
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Audit Opinion

In our opinion,

1. the financial report of Bradken Limited:

�

�

2.

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report.

Scope 

The financial report, remuneration disclosures  and directors' responsibility

Independent audit report to the members of Bradken 
Limited

The company has disclosed information about the remuneration of key management personnel (remuneration 
disclosures) as required by AASB 124, under the heading "remuneration report" on pages 12 to 18 of the directors' 
report, as permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001 .

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial report 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 .  This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the 
accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.  The directors are also responsible for 
the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report.

gives a true and fair view, as required by the Corporations Act 2001  in Australia, of the financial position of 
Bradken Limited and the Bradken Group (defined below) as at 30 June 2006, and of their performance for 
the year ended on that date, and

is presented in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 , Accounting Standards and other mandatory 
financial reporting requirements in Australia, and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

the audited remuneration disclosures that are contained in pages 12 to 18 of the directors' report comply with 
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures  (AASB124) and the Corporations Regulations 2001 .

The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 
statement, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors' declaration for both Bradken Limited 
(the company) and the Bradken Group (the consolidated entity), for the year ended 30 June 2006.  The consolidated 
entity comprises both the company and the entities it controlled during that year.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

PricewaterhouseCoopers Centre
26 Honeysuckle Drive
PO Box 798
NEWCASTLE  NSW  2300
DX 77 Newcastle
Australia
www.pwc.com/au
Telephone +61 2 4925 1100
Facsimile +61 2 4925 1199
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Audit approach

�

�

Independence

PricewaterhouseCoopers

D A Turner Sydney
Partner

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical 
pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001 .

24 August 2006

assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any 
material inconsistencies with the financial report.
While we considered the effectiveness of management's internal controls over financial reporting when determining 
the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.
Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management.

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the company.  Our audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether 
the financial report is free of material misstatement and the remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 .  The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional 
judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than 
conclusive evidence.  Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.  For 
further explanation of an audit, visit our website http://www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 , Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial reporting 
requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated 
entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.  
We also performed procedures to assess whether the remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 . 

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report and remuneration disclosures, and

Independent audit report to the members of Bradken 
Limited (continued)
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